Marquette University

e-Publications@Marquette

Civil and Environmental Engineering Faculty Research and Publications

Civil, Construction, and Environmental Engineering, Department of

7-2018

Characteristics and Applications of Biochars Derived from Wastewater Solids

Zhongzhe Liu Marquette University, zhongzhe.liu@marquette.edu

Simcha L. Singer Marquette University, simcha.singer@marquette.edu

Yiran Tong Marquette University

Lee Kimball Marquette University

Erik Anderson Marquette University

See next page for additional authors

Follow this and additional works at: https://epublications.marquette.edu/civengin_fac

Part of the Civil Engineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Liu, Zhongzhe; Singer, Simcha L.; Tong, Yiran; Kimball, Lee; Anderson, Erik; Hughes, Matthew; Zitomer, Daniel; and McNamara, Patrick J., "Characteristics and Applications of Biochars Derived from Wastewater Solids" (2018). *Civil and Environmental Engineering Faculty Research and Publications*. 201. https://epublications.marquette.edu/civengin_fac/201

Authors

Zhongzhe Liu, Simcha L. Singer, Yiran Tong, Lee Kimball, Erik Anderson, Matthew Hughes, Daniel Zitomer, and Patrick J. McNamara

This article is available at e-Publications@Marquette: https://epublications.marquette.edu/civengin_fac/201

Marquette University

e-Publications@Marquette

Civil, Construction and Environmental Engineering Faculty Research and Publications/College of Engineering

This paper is NOT THE PUBLISHED VERSION; but the author's final, peer-reviewed manuscript. The published version may be accessed by following the link in the citation below.

Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews, Vol. 90, (July, 2018). <u>DOI</u>. This article is © Elsevier and permission has been granted for this version to appear in <u>e-Publications@Marquette</u>. Elsevier does not grant permission for this article to be further copied/distributed or hosted elsewhere without the express permission from Elsevier.

Contents

Abstract	2
Keywords	3
1. Introduction	3
2. Basic properties of wastewater biochars compared to other biochars	4
3. Wastewater biochar as an adsorbent for pollutant removal from wastewater	6
3.1. Nutrients removal	6
3.2. Heavy metals removal	8
3.3. Organic contaminants removal via adsorption with biochar	9
4. Wastewater biochar as a soil amendment	10
4.1. Uses of biochar for plant growth	10
5. Toxicity of wastewater biochar	11
5.1. Toxicity evaluation of heavy metals	11
5.2. Toxicity evaluation of organic contaminants	13
6. Wastewater biochar as a catalyst for thermochemical conversions	15
7. Energy recovery from wastewater biochar	16
7.1. Wastewater biochar heating values	16
7.2. Combustion of wastewater biochar	17

7.3. Gasification of wastewater biochar	
8. Conclusions and future outlook	20
8.1. Conclusions related to the objectives of the review	20
8.2. Future outlook	21
References	22

Characteristics and Applications of Biochars Derived from Wastewater Solids

Zhongzhe Liu Department of Civil, Construction and Environmental Engineering, Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI Simcha Singer Department of Mechanical Engineering, Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI Yiran Tong Department of Civil, Construction and Environmental Engineering, Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI Lee Kimbell Department of Civil, Construction and Environmental Engineering, Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI Erik Anderson Department of Civil, Construction and Environmental Engineering, Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI Matthew Hughes Department of Mechanical Engineering, Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI Daniel Zitomer Department of Civil, Construction and Environmental Engineering, Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI Patrick McNamara Department of Civil, Construction and Environmental Engineering, Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI

Abstract

Pyrolysis is a thermochemical decomposition process that can be used to generate pyrolysis gas (pygas), bio-oil, and biochar as well as energy from biomass. Biomass from agricultural waste and other plant-based materials has been the predominant pyrolysis research focus. Water resource recovery facilities also produce biomass, referred to as wastewater solids, that could be a viable pyrolysis feedstock. Water resource recovery facilities are central collection and production sites for wastewater solids. While the utilization of biochar from a variety of biomass types has been extensively studied, the utilization of wastewater biochars has not been reviewed in detail. This review compares the characteristics of wastewater biochars to more conventional biochars and reviews specific applications of wastewater biochar. Wastewater biochar is a potential candidate to sorb nutrients or organic contaminants from contaminated wastewater streams. While biochar has been used as a beneficial soil amendment for agricultural applications, specific research on wastewater biochar is lacking and represents a critical knowledge gap. Based on the studies reviewed, if biochar is applied to land it will contain less organic micropollutant mass than conventional wastewater solids, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons are not likely to be a concern if pyrolysis is conducted above 700 °C. Wastewater biochar is likely to serve as a better catalyst to convert bio-oil to py-gas than other conventional biochars because of the inherently higher metal (e.g., Ca and Fe) content. The use of wastewater biochar alone as a fuel is also discussed. Finally, an integrated wastewater treatment process that produces and uses wastewater biochar for a variety of food, energy, and water (FEW) applications is proposed.

Keywords

Pyrolysis; Sludge; Biosolids; Adsorbent; Soil amendment; Catalyst

1. Introduction

Typical water resource recovery facilities (WRRFs), formerly referred to as wastewater treatment plants, treat wastewater from homes and industries, producing treated water and residual wastewater solids that are rich in organic content. These facilities are currently energy intensive operations, but a new paradigm has emerged viewing WRRFs as community assets that could recover energy and generate value-added products from wastewater.^{1,2} Influent wastewater is rich in carbon, nutrients, and heat, all of which are potentially valuable resources.³ The nutrients can be recovered as a fertilizer product, e.g. struvite, and used for agricultural purposes.⁴ The organics have inherent energy content that can be recovered on-site. The wastewater solids, in particular, represent a potentially valuable energy source.

The United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) estimates that approximately eight million dry tons of wastewater solids are produced each year in the United States alone.⁵ Wastewater solids are either land applied as a soil conditioner and nutrient source, landfilled, or incinerated. WRRFs do not capture the inherent energy content from the organic matter of wastewater solids that are used as a soil conditioner or landfilled. Additionally, wastewater solids contain micropollutants, *i.e.*, the organic chemicals derived from consumer products that are released to sewers after use, including antimicrobials, pharmaceuticals, personal care products, hormones, and more.⁶ Due to the presence of micropollutants, the long-term environmental and public health impacts of land applying wastewater solids have caused concerns to be raised in recent years.⁷ For these reasons, alternative wastewater solids handling methods are being considered to recover energy while generating valuable products.⁸

Pyrolysis is the process whereby biomass, such as wastewater solids, is heated between approximately 400 and 900 °C in the absence of oxygen.^{9,10} Pyrolysis produces solid, liquid, and gas products. The solid product, biochar, is similar to charcoal. The liquid can consists of multiple phases: including non-aqueous phases often referred to as bio-oil, and an aqueous phase that is sometimes called aqueous pyrolysis liquid. The gas product, referred to as py-gas, consists of H₂, CH₄, CO, CO₂ along with lower concentrations of hydrocarbons including C₂H₆, C₂H₄, and C₃H₈.^{11,12} Py-gas is a relatively clean-burning fuel that can be used on-site at WRRFs for energy recovery. The bio-oil also has a high energy content, but contains water, organic acids and oxygenated organics that make it corrosive for combustion; therefore, bio-oil typically requires processing before use. The biochar, as reviewed in this paper, has a wide array of potential applications as a sorbent, soil amendment, energy source, or catalyst.^{13,14,15,16} It

may be most valuable for WRRF operators to optimize pyrolysis parameters to increase py-gas yield and decrease liquid yields because they require further processing. Slow pyrolysis (defined as pyrolysis with a heating rate less than 100 °C/min) yields more biochar and py-gas than fast pyrolysis (defined as pyrolysis with a heating rate greater than 300 °C/min), and fast pyrolysis typically yields more liquid products.^{17,18} Therefore, the focus of this review is on biochars derived from slow pyrolysis of wastewater solids.

Wastewater solids are an emerging biomass source of interest for pyrolysis, in part, because they are centrally produced in urban locations. Therefore, one of the most energy intensive components for biochar generation, *i.e.*, biomass collection in a central location, has already been completed. From this logistical standpoint wastewater solids represent a potentially practical and easily accessible biomass stream to produce biochar via pyrolysis. Biochar derived from wastewater solids, referred to hereafter as wastewater biochar, however, has not been studied to the same extent as other biochars, nor has wastewater biochar been comprehensively reviewed. It is important to understand how wastewater biochars differ relative to other commonly studied biochars. The goal of this review is therefore to describe the characteristics of wastewater biochars relative to other biochars, current and future biochar uses, and research needs. The specific objectives of this review paper are to: i) determine how basic properties of wastewater biochar properties differ from other biochars ii) identify the appropriate uses of wastewater biochar for sorption, iii) establish the benefit of wastewater biochar as a soil amendment, iv) determine toxic hazards related to land applying wastewater biochar v) establish the role of wastewater biochar as a catalyst and vi) determine the feasibility of energy recovery from wastewater biochar.

2. Basic properties of wastewater biochars compared to other biochars

Wastewater biochars have a lower concentration of carbon (C) than other biomass-derived biochars (Table 1). This is not surprising considering that wastewater solids are comprised of organic and inorganic solids whereas biochars derived from other biomass streams such as switchgrass are composed primarily of organic matter. Wastewater biochars, on the other hand, typically have higher concentrations of nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K), i.e., essential nutrients for plant growth. The relatively high abundance of N, P, and K in wastewater biochars indicate that a beneficial use would be as a soil amendment for agriculture (discussed in Section 4), whereas other biochars that have higher carbon contents might be more appropriately used as an adsorbent (discussed in Section 3). Wastewater biochars also have a higher abundance of micronutrients as well as potential toxicants, including metals (Table 1), so it is important to investigate if these metals are a leaching concern when applied to soils (discussed in Section 5.1) or potentially beneficial for using biochar as a catalyst to convert bio-oil to py-gas (discussed in Section 6).

Table 1. Elemental composition of wastewater biochar relative to other biochars (values are from	
wastewater solids biochars without any secondary activation processes).	

	-						· ·	-					
		Wastewater B	Biochar		Rice Straw	Sawdust	Fescue Grass/Straw	Poultry Litter					
Element	Unit		Pyrolysis Temperature Range °C										
		300-500	550-650	700–900	400-700	450-600	400-700	400-700					
Ultimate Ana	alysis												
С	%	18.92-47	8.15-30.8	6.5-33	42.1-91.2	50-97.3	77.3-94.2	41.3-87.2					
Н	%	0.67 - 2.8	0.38-1.2	0.19-0.70	1.26-4.26	1.0 - 3.7	1.53-4.70	1.2-1.98					
N	%	2.13-6.4	0.37-3.76	0.3-2.98	0.5-1.66	0.1-0.73	0.70-1.24	0.43-5.18					
Nutrient Con	nposition												
Major													
Р	%	5.6	2.4-5.2	4.86-5.06	0.22-0.26	0.1	0.24	0.03-0.60					
K	%	0.24	1.4-1.8	0.31	24.6	0.01-0.03	1.2	0.30-9.15					
S	%	4.47-5	2.16-5	6.17	0.06	0.01-0.7		3.1-3.5					
Mg	%	0.35-0.43	0.04-0.46	0.54	-	0.01-0.04		0.94-2.4					
Na	%	-	8.7	-	-	0.02-0.04		14.8-22.2					
Ca	%	3.47-4.17	1.32-4.62	5.35	-	0.27-0.65	0.51	0-6.3					
Fe	%	7.8-8.85	10.15	11	-	0.07-0.18	_	0.13-0.19					
Minor													
Zn	mg/kg	1250-2980	845-3900	2175	197	8.8-31.7	-	-					
As	mg/kg	2	5.9-9	BD	-	< 10	-	-					
Cd	mg/kg	1.8-9.7	1.5-9.8	3.22	-	< 10	-	-					
Co	mg/kg	-	2.0-69	-	-	< 10	-	-					
Cr	mg/kg	80-112.5	54-230	83	-	< 10	-	5.0-6.86					
Cu	mg/kg	222-2600	163-2700	1500	47	< 10	_	-					
Hg	mg/kg	0.2	-	-	-	-	-	-					
Ni	mg/kg	35-182.5	23.7-740	195	-	< 10	-	-					
Pb	mg/kg	5-239	19.9-410	132	4.8	< 10	-	-					
References		[14,19–26]	[20,21,24-32]	[12,20,21,26,28,33]	[26,34-36]	[26,34,37,38]	[26,39,40]	[26,41,42]					

Wastewater biochars typically have higher H to C ratios than other biochars, concomitant with their lower C content (Table 2). For energy purposes, a higher H/C ratio is preferred compared to a higher O to C ratio because a higher H/C ratio results in a fuel that is more reduced and releases more heat energy per unit mass. However, the total C content also affects the energy content and wastewater biochars typically have lower volatile and fixed C content (Table 2). The prospective of using wastewater biochar as a fuel is discussed in Section 7. Both surface area and pore volume ranges for wastewater biochars are within ranges similar to those of other biochars; these parameters are important when considering the use of biochar as an adsorbent (discussed in Section 3).

Table 2. Proximate and micro-structural analysis of wastewater biochar relative to other biochars (values are from wastewater biochars without any secondary activation processes).

Biochar Material	Pyrolysis Temperature °C	H/C	O/C	Ash (%)	Volatile C (%)	Fixed C (%)	рН	Total Surface Area (m^2/g)	Pore Volume (cm^3/g)	Refs
Wastewater	300-500	0.72-0.87	0.13-0.16	35-72.0	18.4-24.1	4.64-12.9	4.7-9.5	4-35.66	0.0326-0.0738	[12,14,21-23,25,28]
biochars	550-650	0.22-0.50	0.05-0.17	60.3-84.0	11.0-16.7	1.9 - 25.4	7.22-9	5.5-37.18	0.0144-0.0681	[21,24,25,28,29,31,32]
	700-900	0.16-0.35	0.01-0.18	62.3-82.0	4.6-5.7	23.9-28.4	11.7-12	9.22-107	0.0321-0.0894	[20,21,24,28,33]
Rice Straw	400-700	0.44	0.08-0.22	36.2-54.6	5.88-24.7	35.4-39.5	10	34.4-36.7	0.028	[26,34-36]
Sawdust	450-600	0.03-0.6	0.005-0.17	1.1 - 20.0	13.6-40.1	57.2-82.6	5.9 - 12.1	172		[26,33,34,37,38]
Fescue Grass/ Straw	400-700	0.20-0.73	0.03-0.16	15.4–19.3	9.1-26.8	56.9–71.6	-	8.7-139	0.001-0.226	[26,38–40]
Poultry litter	400-700	0.03	0.02-0.16	46.2-53.2	18.3-20.8	29,2-35.5	9.2-10.3	51-94	0.018	[26,40,43]

3. Wastewater biochar as an adsorbent for pollutant removal from

wastewater

3.1. Nutrients removal

Biochar derived from a wide range of feedstocks, including wastewater solids, can adsorb nutrients in the form of ammonium and phosphate. <u>Table 3</u> summarizes research regarding biochars produced from different feedstocks and at different temperatures and washing/preconditioning protocols to adsorb ammonium or phosphate. Among the biochars reviewed, wastewater biochar had intermediate to high ammonium adsorption capacity and high phosphate adsorption capacity.

Author	Feedstock	Pyrolysis Temperature °C	Biochar Washing	Biochar Surface Area m²/g	Cation Exchange Capacity cmol/ kg	Nutrient Type	Nutrient Concentration	NH4 Max Adsorption Capacity mg-N/g	PO ₄ Max Adsorption Capacity mg-P/g
[44]	Peanut Shell	300	N/A	N/A	N/A	NH ₄	50 mg-N/L	16.5	N/A
		450						16	
		600						15.7	
	Corn Cobs	300						17.4	
		450						17	
		600						16.5	
	Cotton Stalks	300						17.5	
		450						16.5	
		600						16.6	
[45]	Wastewater solids	450	Base	19	N/A	NH ₄	0.66-660 mg-N/L	5.3	N/A
[46]	Wheat Straw	500	N/A	N/A	N/A	NH ₄	39 mg-N/L	0.63	N/A
			Acid					0.27	
			DI water					0.33	
	Corn Straw		N/A					2.12	
			Acid					0.45	
			DI water					0.92	
	Peanut Shell		N/A					0.73	
			Acid					0.43	
			DI water					0.54	
[47]	MgCl ₂ pretreated	300	N/A	382	N/A	PO ₄	84-2600 mg-P/L	N/A	155
	Corn Cobs	450		421					160
C + 423		600		490					162
[48]	Wood	600	N/A	2/4	N/A	NH ₄	520-1400 mg-N/L	54.86	N/A
6403	Rice Husk	400		11			O and M d	47.14	
[49]	Poultry Litter	400	N/A	2.4	N/A	NH ₄	2 mg-N/L	0.3	N/A
	Handwood	400		3.0				0.22	
	naruwood	400		15.4				0.07	
[50]	Oak Wood	400	NL/A	20.0	105.9	DO or NH	125 mg. P/L or	120.4	
[50]	Oak Wood	600	N/A	Dy D	65.2	F04 01 14114	778 mg-N/L	123.5	3.6
	Oak Wood	400			60.0		770 mg-17/ h	100.9	0
	Commercial	600			76.6			114.4	15.1
	Greenhouse	400			109.5			118.2	18.7
	Waste	600			146.2			99.3	9.1
	Wastewater	400			51.0			105.8	7.8
	solids	600			52.6			136.2	30.0
	Treated	400			65.7			137.3	11.9
	Municipal Waste	600			67.9			128.3	14.3
[51]	Cacao Shell	300-350	N/A	18.6	37	PO4 or NH4	0.1-50 mg-P/L or	1	0
			Millipore Water	94.2	44		0.1-50 mg-N/L	1.3	
	Corn Cob		N/A	36.4	34			1.6	
			Millipore	98	18			1.4	
			Water						

Table 3. Nutrient adsorption capacity of biochars.

Surface area, surface chemistry, and functional groups are factors that affect interactions between adsorbents and adsorbates. As pyrolysis temperature increases, in general, the biochar surface area increases, $\frac{47.49}{2}$ but the surface area increase does not necessarily confer higher ammonium or phosphate adsorption capacities. $\frac{49.51}{2}$ Cation exchange capacity, which results from the negatively charged biochar surface, is correlated with ammonium ion adsorption because ammonium is a cation. $\frac{50.51.52.53}{20.51.52.53}$ In general, the phosphate adsorption capacities are not as high as ammonium adsorption capacities on biochar because biochar surfaces are negatively charged, and phosphate ions are likely repulsed. In some cases, phosphorus was even released from biochar upon addition to water. $\frac{50.51.53}{20.51.53}$ The binding of phosphate to biochar surfaces can depend on formation of ligand bonds or precipitates onto biochar with biochar surface functional groups, *e.g.*, cations such as Ca, Mg, Al and Fe. $\frac{47.54}{20.54}$ Indeed, when corn cob was modified with the addition of MgCl₂, the derived biochar had higher phosphate adsorption capacity than other types of biochar (Table 3). $\frac{47}{2}$ Normally, wastewater solids contains high metal contents (e.g., Ca, Mg, Fe, etc.) relative to other carbon feedstocks; ($\frac{20}{2}$ Table 1) that can provide binding sites for negatively charged phosphate ions.

Nutrient adsorption capacities can vary by orders of magnitude, not only between different types of feedstocks, but also among biochars derived from the same type of biomass under different conditions (<u>Table 3</u>). Also noteworthy is that washing biochars with de-ionized water, acid or base did not necessarily increase nutrient adsorption.^{46,51} Therefore, the intrinsic properties of a feedstock and the nature of the pyrolysis system might play more essential roles in facilitating ionic bonds between biochar and nutrient ions than washing steps.

In addition to wastewater biochar sorbing nutrients, wastewater biochars are also nutrient-rich and could be good agricultural soil conditioners (discussed in Section 4). After pyrolysis of wastewater solids, N content in biochar was between 1.5% and 3.5% and P content was between 2% and 12.8% by weight.^{20,55} Absorbing external ammonium and phosphate could augment the nutrient content of wastewater biochar to use as a fertilizer. Pyrolysis may be promising for WRRFs that must capture N and P from the effluent while recovering energy. However, the unstable and non-homogeneous properties of wastewater solids and heavy metals such as Zn, Cu, Ni, Cr, and Hg⁵⁶ could be obstacles for applying nutrient-enhanced wastewater biochar on lands.⁵⁷ The risks of heavy metals in wastewater biochars are evaluated in Section 5.1.

3.2. Heavy metals removal

Various types of biochars can sorb heavy metals from water streams, including Pb, Cu, Cr, Cd, and Zn.^{58,59,60} While many of the previous studies have focused on wood-derived biochars, wastewater biochar has the potential for on-site remediation applications that target metals removal from wastewater streams. Recent studies conducted with wastewater biochar have demonstrated the ability to remove a wide range of heavy metals from aqueous solutions.^{29,61,62,63,64,65}

Heavy metal sorption mechanisms to wastewater biochar have been previously described by²⁹ and include surface complexation with active carboxyl and hydroxyl functional groups, co-precipitation and inner-sphere complexation of metals with mineral oxides and organic matter, and electrostatic outer-sphere complexation due to metal exchange with available K and Na in the biochar structure.²⁹ Ion exchange mechanisms may also play important roles in sorption of heavy metal ions.^{29,65} In addition, Kong et al. (2011) reported up to 87% removal of Hg from aqueous solutions using biochar produced from soybean stalks, which was attributed to ion exchange and precipitation and reduction reactions.⁶⁶

Batch tests using wastewater biochar as a sorbent have shown that the biochar can effectively bind to positively charged heavy metal ions in solution due to the cation exchange capacity of the negatively charged biochar surface.^{22,61,67,68} Agrafioti et al. reported that biochar removed approximately 70% of Cr(III) compared to 30% for As (V) from aqueous solutions. They hypothesized that the higher removal of Cr(III) cations was mainly due to electrostatic interactions with the biochar negative surface charge.²² Wastewater biochar can also sorb Pb(II) and Cr (VI) from aqueous solutions, and removal is attributed to the large surface area and the presence of organic functional groups on the biochar surface.⁵⁵ These studies concluded that Pb sorption to biochar was primarily irreversible, and the metal ions would be very difficult to desorb from the biochar structure.^{29,65}

Functional groups such as carboxyl, alcoholic, or phenolic hydroxyl groups have been proposed as key moieties contributing to the interactions between heavy metals and sorbents such as wastewater biochar^{9,61,65,29} investigated the use of wastewater biochar for Pb sorption from acidic solutions (e.g. mine drainage), and determined that Pb adsorption was primarily due to interactions with organic

functional groups such as hydroxyl and carboxyl groups. The study also reported another mechanism of Pb removal through ion exchange involving the coprecipitation of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ ions during the Pb²⁺ sorption process.²⁹ A recent study reported wastewater solids biochar adsorption of Cd²⁺ to be higher than that of activated carbon, and proposed the sorption mechanisms of surface precipitation and ion exchange.⁶¹

Other reports on Cd sorption by biochars derived from different raw materials include observed maximum adsorption capacities of 26.32 mg/g for biochar derived from corn straw,⁶⁹ 6.22 mg/g for biochar derived from household biowaste,⁷⁰ and approximately 25 mg/g for straw biochar.⁷¹ Similarly, Mohan et al. (2007) reported Pb(II) and Cd(II) removal efficiencies via oak bark biochar comparable to that of Calgon F-400 activated carbon (0.5157 mg/m² for Pb(II) and 0.213 mg/m² Cd(II)).⁷² Other studies have noted Cu(II) and Zn(II) sorption from aqueous solutions with biochar derived from hardwood (12.52 and 11.0 mg/g) and corn straw (6.79 and 4.54 mg/g).⁷³ Overall, wastewater solids-derived sorbents compare well with biochars from other feedstocks as researchers have demonstrated heavy metal adsorption capacities of 175.4, 64.1, 30.7, and 15.4 mg/g for Hg(II), Pb(II), Cu(II), and Cr(III), respectively.⁶⁴

3.3. Organic contaminants removal via adsorption with biochar

Pyrolysis parameters such as temperature, residence time, heating rate, and feedstock particle size affect the qualities of the produced biochar and thus biochar interactions with organic contaminants.²² Though most research involving biochar has been related to the effects of using it as a soil amendment, it may also be beneficial as a sorbent for organic contaminants since it has a high carbon content, large surface area, and microporous structure.^{43,74,75} Biochar produced at low temperatures is suitable for agricultural uses, while higher temperatures can improve its porosity and thus enhance its effectiveness in adsorbing contaminants. Based on X-ray diffraction and nuclear magnetic resonance results, it has been suggested that biochars contain an abundance of amorphous aliphatic carbon, which might contribute to its high sorption capacity for hydrophobic organic compounds such as polycyclic aromatic and other petroleum hydrocarbons.^{76,77} For example, previous studies have demonstrated adsorption capacities of 31.7 mg/g for trichloroethylene (TCE) using soybean stover biochar,⁷⁸ 29.7 mg/g P-nitrotoluene via orange peel biochar,⁶⁰ and approximately 20 mg/g phenol using biochar derived from HCI-treated poultry litter.⁷⁹

Wastewater biochar amendments have been shown to sorb endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs), pharmaceuticals, and pesticides such as atrazine, 33,74,80 though the number of research reports involving this type of biochar as an adsorbent is relatively low compared to biochars from other biomass types. Recent research conducted with wastewater biochar has demonstrated its ability to sorb the antimicrobial compound triclosan with adsorption capacities up to 872 µg/g, compared to over 3500 µg/g for Calgon Filtrasorb® 400 granular activated carbon observed in the same study.¹³ Yao et al. investigated the sorption of fluoroquinolone antibiotics (e.g. Gatifloxacin) using wastewater biochar and reported adsorption capacities of up to 19.80 mg/g in batch-scale experiments. The adsorption of organic compounds in this study was attributed to the relatively large surface area that exceeded 110 m²/g and the high volatile fraction of the specific biochar employed.⁸¹ Comparatively, fluoroquinolone antibiotics similar to Gatifloxacin (e.g., enrofloxacin and ofloxacin) were effectively sorbed to bamboo biochar with maximum adsorption capacities up to 46 mg/g.⁸²

Similar to other biochars, wastewater biochars can be altered chemically and physically to increase sorption. Yu and Zhong assessed various methods of physical and chemical activation of wastewater solids targeting COD and color removal from wastewater with dynamic adsorption tests and rapid small-scale column experiments.⁸³ The results indicated up to 79.1% removal of COD and color removal of 87.5%, with COD adsorption capacities up to 47.8 mg/g.⁸³ Similarly, other studies have reported aqueous phase sorption of organic compounds including indigo carmine, crystal violet, phenol, and 4-chlorophenol with biochars made from wastewater solids.^{84,85}

Several studies have proposed that organic contaminant sorption is enhanced by non-electrostatic interactions with π -electrons between adsorbates containing aromatic rings and the adsorbent surface.^{13,84} Other likely factors contributing to the sorption of organic compounds to wastewater biochar include the hydrophobicity, high surface area, and functional group interactions with the biochar structure.^{9,13,68} Overall, wastewater biochar is a plausible sorbent for organic contaminant removal from wastewater.^{81,86,87}

4. Wastewater biochar as a soil amendment

Wastewater biochars have been investigated as soil amendments to improve growth of a variety of plants, including fruiting plants, grasses¹⁴ and rice as well as garlic⁸⁸ and lettuce.⁸⁹ Wastewater biochars have been shown to increase the growth rate of peppers⁹⁰ and tomatoes.³⁰ A number of grasses have also been shown to benefit from wastewater biochar soil application, including bentgrass,⁹¹ Kentucky bluegrass.¹⁴ and ryegrass.⁹²

It is important to consider the type of pyrolysis feed material since it greatly affects the biochar composition and, thus, the biochar influence on plant growth. For example, animal manure and corn stover biochars in soil increased corn growth up to 43% and 30%, respectively, whereas food waste biochar decreased corn growth up to 92% in relation to controls; wastewater biochar was not studied.⁹³ Information on the influence of biochar derived from feed material other than wastewater solids on plant growth is not within the scope of this review, but can be found in the review by Biederman and Harpole.⁹⁴

It is challenging that some reports regarding biochar influence on plant growth do not clearly describe the pyrolysis feed material employed. Even when wastewater solids biochars are studied, some authors do not describe the type of wastewater solids used, whether primary wastewater solids (the wastewater solids generated from the first sedimentation step at a WRRF), waste activated wastewater solids (the wastewater solids from the secondary treatment process that employs aerobic biological oxidation of chemical oxygen demand) or different types of digested wastewater solids (aerobic, anaerobic, digester feed types). In the future, more careful descriptions of pyrolysis feed materials would be beneficial to discern the influence of biochar characteristics on plant growth.

4.1. Uses of biochar for plant growth

Biochar from materials other than wastewater solids has been shown to be beneficial as a soil amendment for green roofs, commercial potting soil mixes and commercial agriculture. More research is warranted to determine if wastewater biochar can also achieve these benefits. Beck et al.⁹² found that green roof soils containing 7 wt% biochar from nut shells and automobile tires demonstrated increased water retention and decreased nutrient and turbidity leaching; this was described as beneficial, helping to maintain plant growth and improving stormwater runoff quality. Biochar has also been added to

commercial potting soil mixes, and reduced nutrient leaching from greenhouse containers,⁹⁵ replaced peat moss in potting soil for pepper plant germination,⁹⁰ and aided carbon sequestration scenarios.⁹⁶ Regarding commercial agriculture, Verheijen at al.⁹⁷ reviewed literature on biochar and crop productivity, describing an average net increase in crop production of 10% when biochar was applied to soils. However, careful attention is required to define exact biochar, plant and soil types since a wide range of biochar application affects were observed (from 28–39% increase in crop productivity with biochar addition). The greatest positive outcomes were observed for acidic and neutral pH soils, and in soils with coarse or medium textures that do not hold moisture well. It was suggested that two main mechanisms for crop productivity increase are improved water holding and nutrient availability due to biochar.⁹⁷

Reported benefits of wastewater biochar soil amendment on plants and plant growth also include reduced plant uptake of soil heavy metals.²⁵ Adding various biochars to soil may also shift rhizosphere microbial and fungal communities to more favorable compositions for plant growth or contribute chemicals to the soil-plant system that increase plant growth.^{98,99} More research is required to elucidate relationships among biochar types, microbial community changes with biochar addition, and mechanisms of altered plant growth under various conditions.

Benefits other than plant growth increases include reduced nutrient leaching rates from soil for improved stormwater runoff quality,^{91,95} reduced soil greenhouse gas emissions,²⁷ and decreased cancer risk from consuming crops planted with wastewater biochar.¹⁰⁰ Khan et al.²⁷ reported that adding wastewater biochar to rice paddy soil can significantly reduce emissions of the greenhouse gasses methane and nitrous oxide over 12 weeks, ostensibly by encouraging the growth of methane and nitrous oxide oxidizing microorganisms. The authors caution that the actual benefits will depend on site-specific conditions and the source of wastewater solids employed to produce biochar and indicate that long-term effects were unknown.

Under some conditions, adding wastewater biochar to paddy soil may yield rice containing lower concentrations of carcinogens, thus reducing cancer risk from rice consumption.¹⁰⁰ For example, wastewater biochar was applied to soil impacted by mining to suppress the phytoavailability of potentially toxic soil chemicals and, thus, the concentrations in the rice. Results and exposure analysis indicated that wastewater biochar addition decreased the daily intake of arsenic, cadmium, dimethylarsinic acid and other chemicals of concern by 22–86%. It was estimated that the lifetime cancer risk associated with consumption of rice grown in mining impacted soil could be reduced by 66%. Overall, wastewater biochars offer benefits as a soil conditioner, but they have been studied to a much lesser extent than other biochars with respect to their impacts on plants and soil. More research is warranted on the specific impacts of wastewater biochars on plant growth and soil communities.

5. Toxicity of wastewater biochar

5.1. Toxicity evaluation of heavy metals

Some biochars contain heavy metals and organic contaminants such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) so they may pose negative impacts to the ecological environment. Therefore, the bioaccumulation and mobility of these potential pollutants is of great concern during land application of biochar.

Previous research indicated that wastewater biochars likely have heavy metals below concentrations of concern, but they should be tested to ensure that levels are safe. In general, the heavy metal contents of wastewater biochars do not preclude them from being land applied (Table 4). There are no legislative standards available for biochar; therefore, wastewater solids land application regulations are used as a reference to understand the levels of heavy metals in wastewater biochar. USEPA and European Union heavy metal standards for wastewater solids land application are also listed in Table 4. The content of heavy metals was greatly influenced by the source biomass for biochar. For the non-wastewater-solids carbonaceous waste derived biochars, Zn had the highest concentration and other heavy metal concentrations of Zn, Cu, Pb and Ni. Except for some specific wastewater biochar samples (e.g., Hossain's biochar from Sydney, Australia, Van Wesenbeeck's biochar from Hawaii, USA, and Lu's biochar from Guangzhou, China) that could pose a risk to the environment, all of the other heavy metal concentrations.

Author	Feedstock	Pyrolysis	Metal Concentr	Metal Concentration in Original Biochar (mg/kg) [] shows metal extraction concentration from original biochar (mg/kg)							
		(°C)	As	Cd	Cr	Cu	Pb	Ni	Se	Zn	-
Hossain et al. [20,30]	Sewage sludge	550	8.8 [0.02]	4.7 [0.04]	230 [< 0.05]	2100 [6.2]	160 [< 0.01]	740 [1.2]	7 [< 0.05]	3300 [22]	Phytoextraction by cherry tomato
Liu et al. [101]	Sewage sludge	450	N/A	4.12 [0.06]	92.2 [0.49]	124.8 [1.92]	67.5 [0.54]	N/A	N/A	749 [11.3]	Phytoextraction by Chinese cabbage
Agrafioti et al. [22]	Sewage sludge	300	N/A [BDL]	N/A [BDL]	N/A [0.11]	N/A [0.17]	N/A [0.74]	N/A [0.14]	N/A	N/A	US EPA TCLP
Devi and Saroha [102]	Paper mill sludge	300-700	N/A	0.91-1.83 [0.11-0.25] [^]	12.93-13.56 [1.8-2.72] [^]	95.74-146.97 [1.97-4]^	20.99-30.46 [0.2-0.8]*	14.94-25.41 [0.54-1.81] [^]	N/A	220.57-332.79 [1.42-7.98] [^]	US EPA TCLP [^] unit is mg/L
Hossain et al.	Sewage sludge	300-700	<3 [N/A]	2.62-3.22 [BDL-0.2]	83-112.5 [N/ A]	1125-1500 [0.1-17.25]	115-140 [N/A]	165-292.5 [N/ A]	< 6.6 [N/A]	1675-2175 [0.11-142.5]	DTPA extraction
Lu et al. [67]	Sewage sludge	300-500	N/A	3.3-9.82 [BDL]	N/A	401-1267.3 [1.69-23]	189.5-506.4 [BDL-10.38]	N/A	N/A	849.3-2304.8 [1.3-92.6]	DTPA extraction
Luo et al. [103]	Sewage sludge	300-700	N/A	0.69-1.38 [0.45-10.5] [^]	211-247 [8-11]	172-202 [45.5-365] [^]	61-74.2 [27.5-115] [^]	51-55.2 [20.5-46.5]^	N/A	804-986 [280-970] [^]	DTPA extraction ^ unit is µg/ L
Mendez et al. [25]	Sewage sludge	500	N/A	1.79 [2]^	N/A	222 [12]	196 [1.3]	35 [29]^	N/A	1250 [34]*	Water extraction ^ unit is µg/ L
Song et al. [88]	Sewage sludge	400-550	9.4-14.8 [0.5-3.2]	3.2-3.6 [BDL- 0.07]	58-66 [BDL- 0.2]	329-402 [BDL- 0.7]	83-98.3 [0.2-1.8]	61.5-77.1 [BDL-0.3]	N/A	1478-1784 [1.1-7.9]	Diluted sulphuric acid & nitric acid
Khan et al. [27]	Sewage sludge	550	9.25 [0.04]	3.69 [0.26]	74.1 [1.24]	222 [6.5]	27 [2.13]	34.5 [2.26]	N/A	1102 [127]	EDTA extraction
Van Wesenbeeck et al. [104]	Sewage sludge	700	7.66-16.7	2-9.1	67.6-281	712-1000	28.4-60	65-635	9.7-19.1	1964.4-2940	N/A
Yuan et al. [109]	Sewage sludge	300-700	N/A	1.06-1.29	124-218	83.5-108	68.9-88.1	51.3-68.2	37.3-45.3	525-690	N/A
Farrell et al. [105]	Sewage sludge		10.7 [<0.05]* [0.2-0.25]**	3.4 [BDL]* [0.01-0.1]**	56.4 [BDL]* [< 0.15]**	811.6 [BDL]* [< 9]**	62.8 [BDL]* [~2.1]**	39.5 [BDL]* [≈ 0.3]**	5.8 [BDL]* [< 0.01]**	1514.4 [BDL]* [10-45]**	Weak extractant (water, CaCl2, and NH4NO3),
	Poultry litter	550	4 [0.2–0.4]* [0.7–0.85]**	0.1 [BDL]* [≈0.025]**	12.4 [BDL]* [< 0.1]**	81.9 [BDL]* [< 8.2]**	2 [BDL]* [≈0.2]**	7.2 [BDL]* [BDL]**	0.3 [≈0.015]* [≈0.02]**	445.3 [BDL]* [25-110]**	marked by * Strong extractant (EDTA, acetic acid), marked by **
	Wheat straw		2.8 [≈ 0.2]* [≈0.6]**	0.1 [BDL]* [≈0.025]**	32.5 [BDL]* [0.02-0.2]**	54.8 [BDL]* [< 8]**	1.6 [BDL]* [≈0.3]**	17.5 [BDL]* [≈ 0.3]**	0.2 [≈0.03]* [≈0.03]**	311.9 [BDL]* [20-80]**	
Luo et al. [103]	Corn stalk	300-700	N/A	< 0.014 [0.15-0.75] [^]	15.6-21.4 [6-11.5]^	40.2-55.3 [75.5-170] [^]	3.04-3.24 [5-9.5] [^]	8.57-9.57 [13.5-32.5]^	N/A	98.4-133 [51-115]^	DTPA extraction ^ unit is µg/ L
Oleszczuk et al. [106]	Miscanthus Coconut shell	650	N/A N/A	0.87 0.1	18 1.3	2.22 3.81	22.3 23.7	9.95 BDL	N/A N/A	102 30.2	N/A
	Wicker Wheat straw		N/A N/A	0.2	BDL BDL	BDL BDL	20.6	BDL BDL	N/A N/A	97.9 32.9	
Cantrell et al. [41]	Dairy	350-700	0.78-1.05	BDL-0.18	N/A	99-163	0.46-0.89	16.1-25.3	N/A	361-423	N/A
US EPA Standard for Land Application [107]			41	39	1200	1500	300	420	36	2800	N/A
European Communities Standard for Land Application [108]			N/A	20-40	N/A	1000-1750	750-1200	300-400	N/A	2500-4000	N/A

Table 4. Heavy metal content of biochars.

The heavy metal leaching concentration is another parameter of interest to consider for understanding the hazards of land applying biochar. Agrafioti et al., found that wastewater biochar had significantly lower heavy metal leaching compared to that from non-pyrolyzed wastewater solids.²² The pH buffering capability of biochar derived from intrinsic biochar alkalinity during leaching tests likely reduced heavy metals leaching.¹⁰⁹ Farrell et al., also stated that pyrolyzed organic matter was more difficult to mineralize, and subsequently the release of contaminants bound in the macromolecular structure would be slower.¹⁰⁵ No guideline or standard is available for the leachability evaluation of biochar such as TCLP (Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure), EDTA (Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid) or DTPA

(Diethylene Triamine Pentaacetic Acid), but Agrafioti et al. and Luo et al. both found that biochar largely reduced the leaching of most metals compared to the corresponding feedstock.^{22,103} Lu et al. also confirmed that the soluble and extractable fractions of heavy metals in the wastewater biochars were greatly decreased when compared to the original wastewater solids feedstock.⁶² For example, the extraction rates of Pb, Zn, and Cu were 16%, 82%, and 43%, respectively, in one of the wastewater solids samples, and the extraction rates decreased to 1%, 2%, and 2%, respectively for the corresponding biochars. Additionally, Devi et al. stated that higher pyrolysis temperature resulted in lower TCLP leaching concentration of heavy metals.¹⁰² Hossain et al. also found that pyrolysis conducted at 700 °C yielded lower DTPA available heavy metals than pyrolysis conducted at temperatures below 700 °C.²⁰ Thus, if leaching is a concern for a particular wastewater biochar it is advised to conduct pyrolysis at higher temperatures.

Bioaccumulation of heavy metals in plants exposed to biochar is a potential mechanism of interest. Hossain et al. investigated the effect of wastewater biochar on cherry tomato growth in terms of soil quality, plant nutrients and the metal bioavailability in plants.³⁰ They found that, though the heavy metals were taken up by the produced fruits, the bioaccumulation of the trace metals in the fruits was insignificant. All of the metal concentrations in the fruits were below the Australian maximum permitted concentrations for food products. Meanwhile, the addition of biochar significantly improved the chemical properties of the soil (e.g. increased electrical conductivity, pH, total nitrogen, extractable phosphorus and cation exchange capacity), plant height, and crop yield with larger number of fruits per plant. The results of Mendez et al. work⁶² agreed with Hossain et al.³⁰ that the wastewater biochar decreased the plant-available Cu, Ni, Zn and Pb and the risk of leaching of Cu, Ni, Zn and Cd. Also, Liu et al. confirmed that the addition of wastewater biochar did not greatly change the contents of heavy metals in plants. They found that biochar soil addition correlated with higher growth and yield of Chinese cabbage without inhibiting the germination.¹⁰¹ Furthermore, Khan et al. found that, besides the reduction of bioaccumulation of As, Cr, Cu, Ni, and Pb in rice plants with wastewater biochar amendment, the addition of biochar significantly mitigated greenhouse gas emissions by reducing N₂O emissions and converting soil from a CH_4 source to a sink.²⁷

Overall, heavy metals in most wastewater biochars do not pose threats to the environment when biochar is used as a soil conditioner. Moreover, biochars in general reduce the leachability of metals compared to wastewater solids. However, the interactions between metals, soils, and plants varies with metal species in biochar, physico-chemical properties of soil, and plant species. Thus, the toxicity analysis of each specific biochar, scaled-up field studies, and long-term monitoring effects are highly recommended for future research.

5.2. Toxicity evaluation of organic contaminants

The major organic contaminants present in biochar are PAHs. However, if the pyrolysis process temperature is high enough, then the biochar will have very low PAH content, and will be below the USEPA PAH limit for wastewater solids land application, which is 6 mg/kg.¹¹⁰ PAH content in soil amendments is regulated by the U.S. EPA and the European Union. In particular, naphthalene, a possible carcinogenic compound to humans, is often the most abundant PAH in biochar.¹¹¹ Experimental evidence suggests that, above a slow pyrolysis temperature of 700 °C, the total PAH sum will decrease substantially in most types of biochar.¹¹² Wastewater biochars made at temperatures over 700°C had consistently demonstrated the lowest PAH contents, less than 1.15mg/kg, relative to other biochars

(<u>Table 5</u>). However, in the case of fast pyrolysis or gasification, the PAH content is not substantially decreased and exceeds most values of regulated PAH content.¹¹³

Table 5. PAH content in biochars.

Refs	Biochar	Pyrolysis Temperature (°C)	PAH Sum Content (mg/ kg)
[114]	Sewage Sludge	200	1.64
[114]	Corn Stalk	200	0.76
[114]	Corn Stalk	300	5.32
[114]	Sewage Sludge	300	2.26
[112]	Maize	300	5.66
[112]	Redwood	300	4.54
[112]	Bamboo	300	2.47
[115]	Straw	400	5.20
[115]	Spruce	400	30.70
[115]	Poplar	400	4.30
[114]	Sewage Sludge	400	2.99
[114]	Corn Stalk	400	3.58
[115]	Straw	460	10.70
[115]	Spruce	460	5.80
[115]	Poplar	460	17.90
[28]	Sewage Sludge	500	0.77
[28]	Sewage Sludge	500	0.67
[28]	Sewage Sludge	500	0.56
[28]	Sewage Sludge	500	0.61
[114]	Sewage Sludge	500	70.39
[114]	Corn Stalk	500	3.29
[115]	Straw	525	33.70
[115]	Spruce	525	1.80
[115]	Poplar	525	2.00
[114]	Sewage Sludge	600	1.24
[114]	Corn Stalk	600	0.57
[28]	Sewage Sludge	600	0.98
[28]	Sewage Sludge	600	0.62
[28]	Sewage Sludge	600	0.57
[28]	Sewage Sludge	600	0.67
[112]	Maize	600	1.47
[112]	Rice Straw	600	1.15
[112]	Bamboo	600	1.06
[112]	Redwood	600	0.08
[114]	Sewage Sludge	700	0.18
[114]	Corn Stalk	700	0.36
[28]	Sewage Sludge	700	1.02
[28]	Sewage Sludge	700	0.49
[28]	Sewage Sludge	700	0.81
[28]	Sewage Sludge	700	1.12

Beyond PAHs, other organic contaminants, *i.e.* micropollutants, are present in wastewater solids.⁶ Pyrolysis of wastewater solids was shown to remove the micropollutants triclosan, triclocarban, and nonlyphenol to below detection limits in biochar (below 0.25 mg/kg) at 500 °C.¹¹⁶ Therefore, pyrolysis of wastewater solids followed by application of the biochar could minimize the discharge of micropollutants to the environment via land application relative to applying non-pyrolyzed wastewater solids. Total estrogenicity, i.e. the total estrogenic hormonal response of a sample, was also greatly reduced from wastewater solids during slow pyrolysis.¹¹⁷ Pyrolysis temperatures greater than 400 °C removed more than 95% of the estrogenicity.¹¹⁷ Pyrolysis volatilizes and possibly transforms these micropollutants. While micropollutants are present in wastewater solids, they would be present in much lower concentrations or absent from wastewater biochars.

6. Wastewater biochar as a catalyst for thermochemical conversions

Biochar is an effective catalyst for tar cracking, i.e., converting bio-oil constituents into py-gas. Gasification is a process that converts fossil fuel or renewable carbonaceous feedstock into energetic product gas. Tars are the condensable organic fraction of the gasification byproducts and are largely high molecular weight (i.e. larger than benzene) aromatic hydrocarbons.¹¹⁸ Tars are difficult to destroy and handle, leading to clogging problems in the gasification process. Mani et. al. and Zhang et al. studied the catalytic decomposition of tar model compounds (i.e. toluene and naphthalene) using pine bark biochar and rice straw biochar, respectively; they found that biochar was a good catalyst for tar cracking.^{119,120} El-Rub et al. compared the catalytic effect on tar model compound (i.e. phenol and naphthalene) reduction using biomass chars and other catalysts such as olivine and dolomite; they found that biomass chars yielded the highest naphthalene removal rate.¹²¹ The catalytic effect of wastewater biochar for the destruction of tars or model components is unknown and its catalytic potential needs further study.

Biochar can also be used as a catalyst to upgrade pyrolysis vapor (i.e., converting the high molecular weight hydrocarbons in bio-oil to light hydrocarbons in py-gas). Pyrolysis vapor includes non-aqueous bio-oil and aqueous pyrolysis liquid and incondensable py-gas. Similar to the tars formed during the gasification process, bio-oil is predominantly comprised of primary tars with some secondary tars. Primary tars are oxygenated compounds (e.g. furfural and methoxyphenol) derived from the decomposition of cellulose, hemicellulose or lignin in carbonaceous materials. Secondary tars are phenolic and olefinic compounds generated from the decomposition of primary tar.¹²² Since biochar has proven to be an effective catalyst for tar destruction, different types of biochar such as wood derived charcoal and corn stover derived biochar were investigated for catalytic upgrading of pyrolysis vapor from different feedstocks (e.g. pinewood, fir sawdust).^{123,124,125} The results from Gilbert et al were in agreement with the work by Sun et al. that revealed pinewood biochar catalytically upgraded the pyrolysis vapor from pinewood.^{123,124} Ren et al. found that corn stover biochar enhanced the py-gas yield and decreased the heavy hydrocarbons in bio-oil during the microwave-assisted pyrolysis of biomass.¹²⁵ Additionally, our previous work demonstrated that wastewater biochar also serves as a good catalyst for increasing py-gas yield and decreasing bio-oil yield because of the high metal content (i.e., Ca, Fe, etc.) in wastewater biochar.^{126,127} The catalytic effect of these biochars is summarized in Fig. 1. Biochar as a catalyst can reduce the bio-oil yield by approximately 10–20%, and the mass fraction of py-gas is increased. Li et al. noted that one of the critical interactions is between radicals (especially H radicals) and the char.¹²⁸ Free radicals are formed in the carbon matrix during the pyrolysis of organic

matter.^{129,130} The porous biochar structure and certain inherent metals such as Ca and Fe can facilitate radical reactions to breakdown tar into smaller molecules.^{128,131,132,133}



Fig. 1. **The catalytic effect of different biochars on upgrading pyrolysis vapor**. (Ren et al.: Feedstock is Douglas fir sawdust and biochar catalyst is corn stover biochar. Catalyst to feedstock mass ratio is 0.5. The pyrolysis and catalysis temperatures are 480 °C in a microwave oven pyrolyzer with 700 W power and 10 min duration; Gilbert et al.: Feedstock is pinewood and biochar catalyst is pinewood biochar. Catalyst to feedstock mass ratio is 1. The pyrolysis temperature is 500 °C and the catalysis temperature is 700 °C; Sun et al.: Feedstock is pinewood and biochar catalyst is pinewood biochar. Catalyst to feedstock mass ratio is 0.6. The pyrolysis and catalysis temperatures are 700 °C; Liu et al.: Feedstock is wastewater solids and biochar catalyst to feedstock mass ratio is 0.6. The pyrolysis and catalysis temperatures are 700 °C; Liu et al.: Feedstock is wastewater solids and biochar catalyst to feedstock mass ratio is 0.7. The pyrolysis and catalyst is pinewood of °C; Liu et al.: Feedstock is wastewater solids and biochar catalyst to feedstock mass ratio is 0.6. The pyrolysis and catalyst to feedstock. Catalyst to feedstock mass ratio is 0.6. The pyrolysis and catalyst is biochar. Catalyst to feedstock mass ratio is 0.7. The pyrolysis and catalyst is pinewood °C; Liu et al.: Feedstock is wastewater solids and biochar catalyst is more are 700 °C; Liu et al.: Feedstock is wastewater solids and biochar catalyst is more are 700 °C.).

7. Energy recovery from wastewater biochar

As a reduced carbonaceous material, wastewater biochar can be used for energy generation or fuels production. Combustion of wastewater biochar, $\frac{134,135}{136}$ or co-combustion with a fuel like coal, $\frac{135,136,137}{136,137}$ can supply process heat or contribute to powering a steam cycle. $\frac{137}{27}$ Gasification or co-gasification of wastewater biochar with steam and a limited amount of oxygen can be used to produce syngas, $\frac{138,139,140,141}{138,139,140,141}$ a mixture of H₂ and CO, that can be combusted for energy generation or used in the production of fuels. Compared to char produced from coal and biomass sources, wastewater biochar has a high content of ash (typically 30–80 wt%), sulfur, and heavy metals and has a reduced heating value. $\frac{142}{2}$

7.1. Wastewater biochar heating values

Higher heating values (HHV) of wastewater biochars generally decrease as pyrolysis temperature increases, due to the loss of energy-rich organic material and the increasing fraction of ash in the remaining solid. Typical HHV for primary wastewater solids of 16.7 MJ/kg have been reported, whereas digested wastewater solids has a typical HHV of 11.9 MJ/kg on a dry basis.^{143,144} HHV of wastewater biochar are lower than the HHVs of the parent wastewater solids, as seen in <u>Table 6</u>, and wastewater biochar produced from primary wastewater solids has a higher HHV compared to wastewater biochar produced from digested wastewater solids.^{145,146} For instance, Otero et al. found that, as the pyrolysis temperature increased, the heating value (dry basis) of wastewater biochar decreased due to the

continual loss of volatiles.¹³⁵ Inguanzo et al. also measured a decrease in HHV as pyrolysis temperature and heating rate increased.²⁴ Trinh et al. found that the HHV of wastewater biochar decreased from 8.8 MJ/kg to 5.1 MJ/kg as the pyrolysis temperature increased from 457 °C to 625 °C, with an increase in ash content from 71.3 wt% to 82.3 wt%.¹⁴⁷ Alvarez et al. found that wastewater biochar produced at 450 °C had a HHV of 5.9 MJ/kg, while wastewater biochar produced at 500 °C and 600 °C had a HHV of 5.3 MJ/kg.¹⁴⁸ The ash content increased with pyrolysis temperature from 68.1% to 74.3%.¹⁴⁸ McNamara et al. (2016) found that the heating value of wastewater biochar declined sharply (> 50%) with pyrolysis temperature between 300 °C and 500 °C, and declined more slowly between 500 °C and 800 °C.¹⁴⁹ Kim et al. (2008) found that the heating value of wastewater biochar decreased with increasing pyrolysis temperature between 250 °C and 500 °C.¹⁴⁵ It can be concluded that as pyrolysis temperature increases, the heating value of wastewater biochar decrease of energy-rich organic matter and the increasing fraction of ash. While not as industrially relevant, it is noted that on a dry, *ash-free* basis, the heating value of wastewater biochar decrease with pyrolysis temperature and can even be higher than that of its parent wastewater solids.^{135,141}

Table 6. Wastewater Biochar Heating Value.

Author	Wastewater solids /Sludge Feedstock	Sludge Heating Value (HHV unless otherwise indicated)	Pyrolysis Temperature °C	Heating Rate °C/ min or Reactor Type	Hold time min	Biochar Ash wt%	Wastewater Biochar Heating Value (HHV unless otherwise indicated)
Inguanzo et al. [12]	Dried, anaerobic digested	16.56	450	60		58.0	11.53
		16.56	650	60		62.2	11.06
		16.56	850	60		66.3	11.96
Otero [135]	Anaerobic digested	16.77	625	Furnace		63.1	10.46
		16.77	900	Furnace		71.8	9.84
	Aerobic digested	16.56	450	Furnace		57.5	11.03
		16.56	780	Furnace		78.4	8.31
	Aerobic digested	13.34	450	Furnace		69.5	6.76
		13.34	780	Furnace		89.9	3.80
Kim et al. [145]	Dried, Dewatered Primary	23	250-500	Batch Reactor	20		17-21
	Dried, Dewatered Thickened Waste Activated	19	250-500	Batch Reactor	20		13–20
	Dried, Dewatered, Digested	17	250-500	Batch Reactor	20		10-16
Pokorna et al. [146]	Dried, Dewatered Thickened Waste Activated	16.5	500	Fluidized Bed-type		57.9	9.9
	Dried, Dewatered, Digested	8.6	500	Fluidized Bed-type		75.1	5.2
	OLDA	15.0	500	Fluidized Bed-type		58.1	10.6
Trinh et al. [147]	Dried, non-digested	10.9	457	12000-60000	20	71.3	8.8
		10.9	625	12000-60000	20	82.3	5.1
Alvarez et al. [148]	Digested	11.1	450	Spouted Bed	2	68.1	5.9
		11.1	600	Spouted Bed	2	74.3	5.3
Gil-Lalaguna et al. [138]	Digested	11.8 (LHV, lower heating values)	530	Fluidized Bed	8	74.2	5.0 (LHV)
McNamara et al. [149]	Anaerobically digested primary sludge blended with Waste Activated Sludge	15	402	37	40		9.1

7.2. Combustion of wastewater biochar

Despite its relatively low heating value, combustion of wastewater biochar for energy recovery has been investigated. In general, wastewater biochar produced at higher pyrolysis temperatures will begin to oxidize at higher temperatures. For example, Inguanzo et al. studied air oxidation of wastewater biochar produced from anaerobic wastewater solids at pyrolysis temperatures of 450 °C, 650 °C and 850 °C using thermogravimetric analysis (TGA).¹⁵⁰ At higher pyrolysis temperatures, oxidation began at higher temperatures, which the authors attribute to a decrease in reactivity associated with increased char densification, similar to the phenomenon of thermal annealing, a process in which the molecular order increases and carbon reactivity decreases with increasing temperature.¹⁵¹ Otero et al. used TGA to study

wastewater biochar oxidation in air and similarly found that wastewater biochar produced at higher pyrolysis temperatures underwent oxidation at higher temperatures.¹³⁵ This may be due to the fact that the biochar produced during pyrolysis still contained some readily-oxidized volatile matter, the fraction of which decreased with increasing pyrolysis temperature,¹³⁵ and could also be explained by char densification.

Wastewater biochar combustion kinetics have been examined by several researchers. For air oxidation of wastewater biochar formed during in-situ combustion of stabilized wastewater solids, Font et al. found an activation energy of 144.1 kJ/mol and a reaction order with respect to oxygen of 0.55.¹⁵² It was also found that the oxidation rate did not depend on the extent of conversion. Nowicki et al. studied oxidation of wastewater biochar from pyrolysis of digested wastewater solids at 1000 °C, in a TGA, using 10% O₂ and oxidation temperatures between 450 °C and 550 °C.¹⁵³ A shrinking core model for the evolution of reaction rate with conversion was found to be appropriate for wastewater biochar oxidation.¹⁵³ The reaction order with respect to oxygen partial pressure was 0.88 and the activation energy was found to be 114 kJ/mol.¹⁵³ Kijo-Kleczkowska et al. inferred from combustion experiments on 5–10 mm wastewater solids particles at 800–900 °C that char combustion occurs in Zone II, in which both kinetics and diffusion within the porous char limit the overall rate of the process.¹⁵⁴ Urych et al. studied combustion of wastewater biochar in air at temperatures of 700 °C to 900 °C.¹⁵⁵ For wastewater biochar pyrolyzed at 900 °C, the oxidation rate increased from 0.16 to 0.21 min⁻¹ as the oxidation temperature increased from 700–900 °C, with an activation energy (determined from nonlinear fitting to the Arrhenius form) that decreased from 17 to 12 kJ/mol. It is likely that char oxidation experiments at this temperature occurred in the diffusion-limited regime, leading to uncharacteristically low activation energies. More research is needed for a definitive comparison of the oxidation kinetics of wastewater biochar to chars from other fuels.

7.3. Gasification of wastewater biochar

Gasification of wastewater biochar is accomplished by reacting the carbonaceous solid with steam (H₂O) and/or carbon dioxide (CO_2) to produce syngas, a mixture of H_2 and CO which can subsequently be used for energy recovery or chemical production. Scott et al. compared the CO₂ gasification rates of wastewater biochar produced from pyrolysis of undigested wastewater solids at 900 °C to chars produced from car tires and from coal, using a fluidized bed.¹⁵⁶ An adsorption-desorption model was employed to determine the activation energies and pre-exponential factors for gasification. On both a per unit surface area and per unit mass basis, the wastewater biochar was the most reactive, by one to two orders of magnitude, which the authors attribute to its high ash content (74% ash).¹⁵⁶ Vamvuka et al. studied CO₂ gasification of wastewater biochar from undigested wastewater solids pyrolyzed at 950 °C.¹⁵⁷ The gasification reaction was fit to a power law rate expression (with respect to CO_2 partial pressure) with an activation energy of 180 kJ/mol and was found to be two times slower for wastewater biochar than for municipal solid waste and paper waste, a difference attributed by the authors primarily to differences in surface area.¹⁵⁷ Acid washing of the wastewater biochar lowered its reactivity by removing catalytically active mineral matter. While more research is needed, it appears that wastewater biochar gasification may be faster than coal char gasification, but slower than gasification of municipal solid waste and paper waste chars, with the differences being attributed to ash content and surface area.

The kinetics of wastewater biochar gasification have been examined by several researchers and, unlike combustion, some general agreement in kinetic parameters have emerged. Inguanzo et al. studied CO2 gasification of wastewater biochar produced from anaerobic wastewater solids at pyrolysis temperatures of 450 °C, 650 °C and 850 °C using TGA.¹⁵⁰ At higher pyrolysis temperatures, there was a marked decrease in the time required for gasification of the char. However, similar to oxidation, gasification began at higher temperatures for wastewater biochar produced at higher pyrolysis temperatures, although the effect was not as pronounced as during oxidation. Nowicki et al. studied gasification of wastewater biochar from pyrolysis of digested wastewater solids at 1000 °C, in a TGA, using CO₂ and H₂O as reactants at temperatures between 750 °C and 950 °C.¹⁵³ A power–law reaction rate form was assumed. The reaction order with respect to steam was 0.30, and the order with respect to carbon dioxide was 0.39. The activation energy for H_2O was 193 kJ/mol, while for CO_2 the value was found to be slightly higher (227 kJ/mol).¹⁵³ The pre-exponential factor for wastewater biochar gasification with steam was roughly six times larger than for gasification with carbon dioxide.¹⁵³ Nowicki and Markowski later compared the gasification of raw and stabilized wastewater solids.¹⁴⁰ The wastewater biochar obtained from pyrolysis of the stabilized wastewater solids had a higher reactivity, which the authors attribute to its higher ash content (85.6%) compared to the wastewater biochar obtained from the raw wastewater solids (69.1% ash). In both studies, the variation of reaction rate with conversion was best fit by a shrinking core model for CO₂ and a volumetric model for steam.^{140,153} which may indicate that steam fully penetrates the char particle's pore structure, while CO_2 may have more limitations in smaller pores, similar to coal chars.¹⁵⁸ Nilsson et al. studied gasification of wastewater biochar in CO₂, H_2O^{159} and mixtures thereof, ¹⁶⁰ in a fluidized bed. The char was produced in nitrogen at the same temperature as the subsequent gasification tests. It was found that cooling the char before gasification, which is typical in kinetic experiments, lowers its reactivity by more than 50%.¹⁵⁹ For 1.2 mm particles, diffusion limitations were found to be negligible in the range of 800–900 °C. For the reactions with CO_2 and H_2O individually, a power law expression in reactant partial pressure was found to be valid, with a reaction order of 0.33 for steam and 0.41 for CO_2 , ¹⁵⁹ similar to the results of Nowicki et al.¹⁵³ The activation energy was similar for both reactants (171 kJ/mol for H₂O and 163.5 kJ/mol for CO_2), although the pre-exponential factor was larger by a factor of six for the char-steam reaction,¹⁵⁹ similar to the findings of Nowicki et al.¹⁵³ For gasification of wastewater biochar in a mixture of CO₂ and H_2O , the authors found that the total gasification rate could be reproduced by the sum of the individual gasification rates,¹⁶⁰ a result that does not always hold for other types of char, where competition of reactants for active sites is a factor.¹⁶¹ It appears that gasification of wastewater biochar with CO₂ has an activation slightly higher than the activation energy for gasification with H₂O, while the pre-exponential factor is roughly six times higher for steam gasification. The reaction order for steam gasification is roughly 0.3, while the reaction order for CO₂ gasification is roughly 0.4.

The gasification behavior of wastewater biochar has been compared to other biochars. Sattar et al. studied pelletized wastewater biochar gasification in a tubular reactor between 650 °C and 850 °C and measured the syngas composition and carbon conversion as a function of particle size, temperature and steam flow rate.¹³⁹ The steam gasification reaction rate of wastewater biochar was found to be similar to biomass chars typically proposed for gasification, such as miscanthus. However, the authors note that wastewater biochar may not be suitable for standalone gasification due to its low carbon content. At a temperature of 850 °C and with a steam flow rate of 172 g/min/kg wastewater biochar, the syngas produced from wastewater biochar gasification contained approximately 57% H₂, 15% CO and 3% CH₄, by volume.¹³⁹ The authors found a minimal impact of biochar particle size on carbon conversion and

syngas composition, which is not surprising given that the low temperatures and slow nature of gasification likely results in a kinetically-controlled reaction regime.¹³⁹

Given its low carbon content, it is questionable whether gasification of wastewater biochar is practical. Gil-Lalaguna and coworkers studied air-steam gasification of wastewater biochar in a fluidized bed and compared the results to gasification of digested, dried sewage wastewater solids. 138,162 Wastewater biochar gasification resulted in a lower carbon conversion compared to wastewater solids gasification, due to the fact that the carbon present in wastewater solids is mostly released as volatiles (during gasification), whereas the carbon content of the char is mostly in the solid state.¹³⁸ When taken on a dry, ash-free basis, however, gasification of wastewater biochar produces more syngas than gasification of wastewater solids, and produces a similar amount of gas as lignocellulosic biochars undergoing gasification.¹³⁸ Specifically, the yield of H_2 contained in the syngas was approximately the same for wastewater biochar and wastewater solids, while the CO yield was 79% higher for wastewater biochar than wastewater solids.¹³⁸ The lower heating value of gas produced from wastewater biochar was 4.09– 5.96 MJ/m³, which was very similar to that of the gas produced from wastewater solids gasification.¹³⁸ As expected, increasing the temperature, reactant flow rate and oxygen-to-steam ratio during gasification increased the carbon conversion.¹³⁸ Gil-Lalaguna et al. (2014) also evaluated the energy requirements for direct gasification of dried wastewater solids and compared it to a two-stage process consisting of dried wastewater solids pyrolysis and subsequent wastewater biochar gasification.¹⁶² In both processes, the energy requirements of the initial drying step were also considered. Because the industrially-relevant metrics for both processes would be on a per-kg- wastewater solids basis, rather than a dry ash-free basis, the authors determined that the one-step wastewater solids gasification process is exothermic (recall, air as well as steam is supplied to the reactor) while the separate pyrolysis and wastewater biochar gasification process is endothermic.¹⁶² While the authors assumed the pyrolysis liquid is not utilized and its calorific value is lost, if the pyrolysis liquid were utilized, the two-part pyrolysis + air-steam gasification process would also be energetically favorable.¹⁶² In conclusion, wastewater biochar gasification is difficult in general, due to its high ash and low carbon content, but the inherent gasification properties of the carbon contained within wastewater biochar are similar to chars from other sources.

8. Conclusions and future outlook

8.1. Conclusions related to the objectives of the review

Wastewater biochar is chemically different from other biochars and has many potential value-added applications, as noted in the objectives of this review.

Objective 1. Determine how basic properties of wastewater biochar properties differ from other biochars. In general wastewater biochar has a lower C content than other biochars stemming from biomass primarily because wastewater is composed of both organic and inorganic solids. Wastewater biochar also typically has a higher H to C ratio, as well as higher metal content.

Objective 2. Identify the appropriate uses of wastewater biochar for sorption. As an adsorbent, wastewater biochar has intermediate to high ammonium adsorption capacity. Some biochars adsorb phosphate, but other biochars can actually leach phosphate. Therefore, wastewater biochar could be used to recover nutrients from wastewater. It can also remove a wide range of heavy metals from various wastewater streams via cation exchange of the negatively charged biochar surface. Moreover,

wastewater biochar can effectively sorb organic contaminants such as endocrine disrupting compounds, pharmaceuticals, antimicrobial compounds and antibiotics, and could be used as a polishing treatment step to remove micropollutants from wastewater discharge.

Objective 3. Establish the benefit of wastewater biochar as a soil amendment. As a soil amendment, wastewater biochar can improve growth of a variety of plants such as fruiting plants, grasses, rice and lettuce. Still, the research on wastewater biochar as a soil amendment is scarce and more research should be conducted to further validate the benefits of it as a soil amendment.

Objective 4. Determine toxic hazards related to land applying wastewater biochar. Toxic pollutants in most wastewater biochars do not pose threats to the environment during land application. The heavy metal concentrations of most wastewater biochar products can meet both US EPA and European Union standards. PAH contents of wastewater biochar that is made above 700 °C consistently are below the maximum limits set by the US EPA. Moreover, other emerging contaminants such as triclosan and estrogens are not present either.

Objective 5. Establish the role of wastewater biochar as a catalyst. For applications in energy recovery technologies, wastewater biochar can be used as a catalyst for upgrading pyrolysis vapor to increase py-gas yield for enhanced energy recovery.

Objective 6. Determine the feasibility of energy recovery from wastewater biochar. Combustion and gasification of wastewater biochar is difficult because its high ash and low carbon content results in reduced heating values compared to other chars. On a dry-ash free basis, however, wastewater biochars are quite reactive, due to their high content of catalytically active minerals. Co-gasification or co-combustion with fuels like coal or biomass may therefore present the most practical route for energy recovery from wastewater biochar.

8.2. Future outlook

Based on the above benefits, a biochar enhanced solids treatment (BEST) process is proposed here (<u>Fig.</u> <u>2</u>) to help transit conventional pollutant treatment plants to WRRFs. The future WRRF framework focuses on many emerging nexuses such as FEW (Food, Energy, Water) and NEW (Nutrients, Energy, Water). A common goal of these nexuses is to improve resource and energy recovery while simultaneously mitigating impacts of pollutants inherent to wastewater.



Fig. 2. **The Biochar Enhanced Solids Treatment (BEST) process.** Solids from primary sedimentation and secondary treatment are sent to an anaerobic digester. The digested wastewater solids are dried and processed via autocatalytic pyrolysis, a process that employs wastewater biochar as a catalyst. The py-gas from pyrolysis and biogas from digestion are recovered for energy production. The aqueous condensate from pyrolysis is co-digested in the anaerobic digester. The biochar is either added to soil for agricultural benefits, used as an adsorbent to remove micropollutants from effluent, used as a catalyst, or used as a fuel for co-gasification or co-combustion. The biochar that has adsorbed micropollutants is returned to the pyrolyzer to remove micropollutants.

In the BEST process, fresh wastewater biochar can be used as a fuel or as an adsorbent. For sorption, the activated sorbent is used to remove micropollutants from secondary-treated wastewater. The micropollutant-laden biochar is further used as a catalyst to upgrade pyrolysis vapor. The biochar assisted catalysis can greatly enhance the energetic gas production for improved on-site energy recovery. Meanwhile, micropollutants can be removed from biochar catalyst after reheating to high catalytic temperature. This regenerated clean biochar catalyst is further used as a sorbent to capture nutrients. The nutrient-laden biochar is finally land applied as a soil amendment. The BEST process can reduce both adverse ecological and environmental impacts such as possible aquatic life population decline caused by micropollutants and eutrophication to help promote a healthier community. The improved energy recovery from wastewater solids can supply more renewable energy to the local residents. Furthermore, the final land application of biochar is a sustainable approach for regional agricultural and horticultural development.

References

 W. Mo, Q. Zhang. Energy-nutrients-water nexus: integrated resource recovery in municipal wastewater treatment plants. J Environ Manag, 127 (2013), pp. 255-267, <u>10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.05.007</u>

- P.L. McCarty, J. Bae, J. Kim. Domestic wastewater treatment as a net energy producer can this be achieved? Environ Sci Technol, 45 (2011), pp. 7100-7106, <u>10.1021/es2014264</u>
- N.C. Baek, U.C. Shin, J.H. Yoon. A study on the design and analysis of a heat pump heating system using wastewater as a heat source. Sol Energy, 78 (2005), pp. 427-440, <u>10.1016/j.solener.2004.07.009</u>
- A.T. Williams, D.H. Zitomer, B.K. Mayer. Ion exchange-precipitation for nutrient recovery from dilute wastewater. Environ Sci Water Res Technol, 1 (2015), pp. 832-838, <u>10.1039/C5EW00142K</u>
- 5. U.S.E.P.A. Biosolids generation, use, and disposal in the United States. EPA530-R-99-009; 1999.
- K. McClellan, R.U. Halden. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in archived U.S. biosolids from the 2001 EPA national sewage sludge survey. Water Res, 44 (2010), pp. 658-668, <u>10.1016/j.watres.2009.12.032</u>
- C.A. Kinney, E.T. Furlong, D.W. Kolpin, M.R. Burkhardt, S.D. Zaugg, S.L. Wener, J.P. Bossio, M.J. Benotti. Bioaccumulation of pharmaceutical and other anthropogenic waste indicators in earhtworms from agricultural soil amended with biosolid or swine manure. Environ Sci Technol, 42 (2008), pp. 1863-1870, <u>10.1021/es702304c</u>
- Human Sludge to Synfuel Advanced Pyrolysis Plant, Los Angeles. Available at
 <u>\https://wteinternational.com/project-portfolio/human-sludge-to-synfuel-plant-los-</u>
 angeles/>.
- P. Hadi, M. Xu, C. Ning, C. Sze Ki Lin, G. McKay. A critical review on preparation, characterization and utilization of sludge-derived activated carbons for wastewater treatment. Chem Eng J, 260 (2015), pp. 895-906, <u>10.1016/j.cej.2014.08.088</u>
- 10. S. Werle, R.K. Wilk. A review of methods for the thermal utilization of sewage sludge: the Polish perspective. Renew Energy, 35 (2010), pp. 1914-1919, <u>10.1016/j.renene.2010.01.019</u>
- P.J. McNamara, J.D. Koch, Z. Liu, D.H. Zitomer. Pyrolysis of dried wastewater biosolids can be energy positive. Water Environ Res, 88 (2016), pp. 804-810, 10.2175/106143016×14609975747441
- M. Inguanzo, A. Dominguez, J.A. Menendez, C.G. Blanco, J.J. Pis. On the pyrolysis of sewage sludge: the influence of pyrolysis temperature on biochar, liquid and gas fractions. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis, 63 (2002), pp. 209-222, <u>10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.518-523.3412</u>
- 13. Y. Tong, B.K. Mayer, P.J. McNamara. **Triclosan adsorption using wastewater biosolids-derived biochar.** Environ Sci Water Res Technol, 2 (2016), pp. 761-768
- D.E. Carey, P.J. McNamara, D.H. Zitomer. Biochar from pyrolysis of biosolids for nutrient adsorption and turfgrass cultivation. Water Environ Res, 87 (2015), pp. 2098-2106, <u>10.2175/106143015×14362865227391</u>
- M. Tripathi, J.N. Sahu, P. Ganesan. Effect of process parameters on production of biochar from biomass waste through pyrolysis: a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev, 55 (2016), pp. 467-481, <u>10.1016/j.rser.2015.10.122</u>
- 16. J. Lee, K.-H. Kim, E.E. Kwon. **Biochar as a Catalyst.** Renew Sustain Energy Rev, 77 (2017), pp. 70-79, <u>10.1016/j.rser.2017.04.002</u>

- 17. M. Inyang, E. Dickenson. The potential role of biochar in the removal of organic and microbial contaminants from potable and reuse water: a review. Chemosphere, 134 (2015), pp. 232-240
- 18. Meyer S, Glaser B, Quicker P. Technical, Economical, and Climate-Related Aspects of Biochar Production Technologies : A Literature Review 2011. p. 9473–83.
- 19. T.R. Bridle, D. Pritchard. Energy and nutrient recovery from sewage sludge via pyrolysis. Water Sci Technol, 50 (2004), pp. 169-175.
- M.K. Hossain, V. Strezov, K.Y. Chan, A. Ziolkowski, P.F. Nelson. Influence of pyrolysis temperature on production and nutrient properties of wastewater sludge biochar. J Environ Manag, 92 (2011), pp. 223-228, <u>10.1016/j.jenvman.2010.09.008</u>
- J.S. Cha, S. Hoon, S. Jung, C. Ryu, J. Jeon, M. Shin, Y.W. Park. Production and utilization of biochar: a review. J Ind Eng Chem (2016), <u>10.1016/j.jiec.2016.06.002</u>
- 22. E. Agrafioti, G. Bouras, D. Kalderis, E. Diamadopoulos. **Biochar production by sewage sludge pyrolysis.** J Anal Appl Pyrolysis, 101 (2013), pp. 72-78, <u>10.1016/j.jaap.2013.02.010</u>
- A. Méndez, A. Gómez, J. Paz-Ferreiro, G. Gascó. Effects of sewage sludge biochar on plant metal availability after application to a Mediterranean soil. Chemosphere, 89 (2012), pp. 1354-1359, <u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.05.092</u>
- M. Inguanzo, A. Domi, J.A. Mene, C.G. Blanco, J.J. Pis. On the pyrolysis of sewage sludge: the influence of pyrolysis conditions on solid, liquid and gas fractions. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis, 63 (2002), pp. 209-222
- A. Méndez, M. Terradillos, G. Gascó. Physicochemical and agronomic properties of biochar from sewage sludge pyrolysed at different temperatures. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis, 102 (2013), pp. 124-130, <u>10.1016/j.jaap.2013.03.006</u>
- M. Ahmad, A.U. Rajapaksha, J.E. Lim, M. Zhang, N. Bolan, D. Mohan, M. Vithanage, S.S. Lee, Y.S. Ok. Biochar as a sorbent for contaminant management in soil and water: a review. Chemosphere, 99 (2014), pp. 19-23, <u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.10.071</u>
- S. Khan, C. Chao, M. Waqas, H.P.H. Arp, Y. Zhu. Sewage sludge biochar influence upon rice (Oryza sativa L) yield, metal bioaccumulation and greenhouse gas emissions from acidic paddy soil. Environ Sci Technol, 47 (2013), pp. 8624-8632, <u>10.1021/es400554x</u>
- A. Zielińska, P. Oleszczuk. Effect of pyrolysis temperatures on freely dissolved polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) concentrations in sewage sludge-derived biochars. Chemosphere (2016), <u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.02.118</u>
- 29. H. Lu, W. Zhang, Y. Yang, X. Huang, S. Wang, R. Qiu. Relative distribution of Pb 2+ sorption mechanisms by sludge-derived biochar. Water Res, 46 (2012), pp. 854-862, <u>10.1016/j.watres.2011.11.058</u>
- M.K. Hossain, V. Strezov, K. Yin Chan, P.F. Nelson. Agronomic properties of wastewater sludge biochar and bioavailability of metals in production of cherry tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum). J Chemosphere, 78 (2010), <u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.01.009</u>
- J. Paz-Ferreiro, G. Gascó, B. Gutiérrez, A. Méndez. Soil biochemical activities and the geometric mean of enzyme activities after application of sewage sludge and sewage sludge biochar to soil. Biol Fertil Soils, 48 (2012), pp. 511-517, <u>10.1007/s00374-011-0644-3</u>
- 32. M.K. Hossain, V. Strezov, P.F. Nelson. Thermal characterisation of the products of wastewater sludge pyrolysis. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis, 85 (2009), pp. 442-446, <u>10.1016/j.jaap.2008.09.010</u>

- K.K. Shimabuku, J.P. Kearns, J.E. Martinez, R.B. Mahoney, L. Moreno-Vasquez, R.S. Summers.
 Biochar sorbents for sulfamethoxazole removal from surface water, stormwater, and
 wastewater effluent. Water Res, 96 (2016), pp. 236-245, <u>10.1016/j.watres.2016.03.049</u>
- 34. T. Xie, K.R. Reddy, C. Wang, E. Yargicoglu, K. Spokas. Characteristics and applications of biochar for environmental remediation : a review. Environ Sci Technol (2015), pp. 939-969, <u>10.1080/10643389.2014.924180</u>
- 35. K. Lu, X. Yang, J. Shen, B. Robinson, H. Huang, D. Liu, B. Nanth, P. Jianchuan, W. Hailong. Effect of bamboo and rice straw biochars on the bioavailability of Cd, Cu, Pb and Zn to Sedum plumbizincicola. Agric Ecosyst Environ, 191 (2014), pp. 124-132, <u>10.1016/j.agee.2014.04.010</u>
- J. Park, Y. Lee, C. Ryu, Y.K. Park. Slow pyrolysis of rice straw: analysis of products properties, carbon and energy yields. Bioresour Technol, 155 (2014), pp. 63-70, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2013.12.084</u>
- F. Tinwala, P. Mohanty, S. Parmar, A. Patel, K.K. Pant. Intermediate pyrolysis of agro-industrial biomasses in bench-scale pyrolyser: product yields and its characterization. Bioresour Technol, 188 (2015), pp. 258-264, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2015.02.006</u>
- Y. Lin, P. Munroe, S. Joseph, R. Henderson, A. Ziolkowski. Water extractable organic carbon in untreated and chemical treated biochars. Chemosphere, 87 (2012), pp. 151-157, <u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.12.007</u>
- M. Keiluweit, P.S. Nico, M.G. Johnson, M. Kleber. Dynamic molecular structure of plant biomass-derived black carbon (Biochar). Environ Sci Technol, 44 (2010), pp. 1247-1253, <u>10.1021/es9031419</u>
- S. Gul, J.K. Whalen, B.W. Thomas, V. Sachdeva, H. Deng. Physico-chemical properties and microbial responses in biochar-amended soils: mechanisms and future directions. Agric Ecosyst Environ, 206 (2015), pp. 46-59, <u>10.1016/j.agee.2015.03.015</u>
- K. Cantrell, P. Hunt, M. Uchimiya, J. Novak. Impact of pyrolysis temperature and manure source on physicochemical characteristics of biochar. Bioresource, 107 (2012), pp. 419-428, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2011.11.084</u>
- W. Song, M. Guo. Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis Quality variations of poultry litter biochar generated at different pyrolysis temperatures. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis, 94 (2012), pp. 138-145, <u>10.1016/j.jaap.2011.11.018</u>
- J. Tang, W. Zhu, R. Kookana, A. Katayama. Characteristics of biochar and its application in remediation of contaminated soil. J Biosci Bioeng, 116 (2013), pp. 653-659, <u>10.1016/j.jbiosc.2013.05.035</u>
- F. Gao, Y. Xue, P. Deng, X. Cheng, K. Yang. Removal of aqueous ammonium by biochars derived from agricultural residuals at different pyrolysis temperatures. Chem Speciat Bioavailab, 27 (2015), pp. 92-97
- 45. Carey D, McNamara P, Zitomer D. Biosolid derived biochar to immobilize and recycle ammonium from wastewater for agronomy. Water Environ. Fed. Tech. Exhib. Conference, vol. Chicago, I; 2013.
- 46. X. Gai, H. Wang, J. Liu, L. Zhai, S. Liu, T. Ren, H. Liu. Effects of feedstock and pyrolysis temperature on biochar adsorption of ammonium and nitrate. PLoS One (2014), p. 9, <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0113888.</u> C. Fang, T. Zhang, P. Li, R. Jiang, Y. Wang

- Application of magnesium modified corn biochar for phosphorus removal and recovery from swine wastewater. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 11 (2014), pp. 9217-9237, <u>10.3390/ijerph110909217</u>
- 48. S. Kizito, S. Wu, W. Kipkemoi Kirui, M. Lei, Q. Lu, H. Bah, R. Dong. Evaluation of slow pyrolyzed wood and rice husks biochar for adsorption of ammonium nitrogen from piggery manure anaerobic digestate slurry. Sci Total Environ, 505 (2015), pp. 102-112, <u>10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.09.096</u>
- J. Tian, V. Miller, P.C. Chiu, J.A. Maresca, M. Guo, P.T. Imhoff. Nutrient release and ammonium sorption by poultry litter and wood biochars in stormwater treatment. Sci Total Environ, 553 (2016), pp. 596-606, <u>10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.02.129</u>
- C.A. Takaya, L.A. Fletcher, S. Singh, K.U. Anyikude, A.B. Ross. Phosphate and ammonium sorption capacity of biochar and hydrochar from different wastes. Chemosphere, 145 (2016), pp. 518-527, <u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.11.052</u>
- S.E. Hale, V. Alling, V. Martinsen, J. Mulder, G.D. Breedveld, G. Cornelissen. The sorption and desorption of phosphate-P, ammonium-N and nitrate-N in cacao shell and corn cob biochars. Chemosphere, 91 (2013), pp. 1612-1619, <u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.12.057</u>
- 52. T.L. Eberhardt, S.H. Min, J.S. Han. Phosphate removal by refined aspen wood fiber treated with carboxymethyl cellulose and ferrous chloride. Bioresour Technol, 97 (2006), pp. 2371-2376, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2005.10.040</u>
- 53. Z. Zeng, S. Zhang, T. Li, F. Zhao, Z. He, H. Zhao, X. Yang, H. Wang, J. Zhao, M. Rafiq. Sorption of ammonium and phosphate from aqueous solution by biochar derived from phytoremediation plants. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B, 14 (2013), pp. 1152-1161, <u>10.1631/jzus.B1300102</u>
- 54. Y. Yao, B. Gao, M. Inyang, A.R. Zimmerman, X. Cao, P. Pullammanappallil, Y. Liuyan. Biochar derived from anaerobically digested sugar beet tailings: characterization and phosphate removal potential. Bioresour Technol, 102 (2011), pp. 6273-6278, 10.1016/j.biortech.2011.03.006
- 55. K.Y. Chan, Z. Xu. **Biochar: nutrient properties and their enhancement.** Biochar Environ Manag Sci Technol (2009), pp. 67-84
- 56. S.R. Smith. A critical review of the bioavailability and impacts of heavy metals in municipal solid waste composts compared to sewage sludge. Environ Int, 35 (2009), pp. 142-156, <u>10.1016/j.envint.2008.06.009</u>
- 57. Brobst R. Biosolids Management Handbook; 1995.
- D. Mohan, A. Sarswat, Y.S. Ok, C.U. Pittman. Organic and inorganic contaminants removal from water with biochar, a renewable, low cost and sustainable adsorbent - A critical review. Bioresour Technol, 160 (2014), pp. 191-202, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2014.01.120</u>
- 59. X. Cao, W. Harris. **Properties of dairy-manure-derived biochar pertinent to its potential use in remediation.** Bioresour Technol, 101 (2010), pp. 5222-5228, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2010.02.052</u>
- 60. B. Chen, Z. Chen, S. Lv. A novel magnetic biochar efficiently sorbs organic pollutants and phosphate. Bioresour Technol, 102 (2011), pp. 716-723, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2010.08.067</u>
- T. Chen, Y. Zhang, H. Wang, W. Lu, Z. Zhou, Y. Zhang, R. Lulu. Influence of pyrolysis temperature on characteristics and heavy metal adsorptive performance of biochar derived from municipal sewage sludge. Bioresour Technol, 164 (2014), pp. 47-54, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2014.04.048</u>

- 62. G. Gasco, A. Mendez, J.M. Gasco. **Preparation of carbon-based adsorbents from sewage sludge pyrolysis to remove metals from water.** Desalination, 180 (2005), pp. 245-251, <u>10.1016/j</u>
- M. Otero, F. Rozada, A. Morán, L.F. Calvo, A.I. García. Removal of heavy metals from aqueous solution by sewage sludge based sorbents: competitive effects. Desalination, 238 (2009), pp. 46-57, <u>10.1016/j.desal.2008.03.005</u>
- F. Rozada, M. Otero, A. Morán, A.I. García. Adsorption of heavy metals onto sewage sludgederived materials. Bioresour Technol, 99 (2008), pp. 6332-6338, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2007.12.015</u>
- W. Zhang, S. Mao, H. Chen, L. Huang, R. Qiu. Pb (II) and Cr (VI) sorption by biochars pyrolyzed from the municipal wastewater sludge under different heating conditions. Bioresour Technol, 147 (2013), pp. 545-552, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2013.08.082</u>
- H. Kong, J. He, Y. Gao, H. Wu, X. Zhu. Cosorption of phenanthrene and mercury(II) from aqueous solution by soybean stalk-based biochar. J Agric Food Chem, 59 (2011), pp. 12116-12123, <u>10.1021/jf202924a</u>
- H. Lu, W. Zhang, S. Wang, L. Zhuang, Y. Yang, R. Qiu. Characterization of sewage sludge-derived biochars from different feedstocks and pyrolysis temperatures. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis, 102 (2013), pp. 137-143, <u>10.1016/j.jaap.2013.03.004</u>
- K.M. Smith, G.D. Fowler, S. Pullket, N.J.D. Graham. Sewage sludge-based adsorbents: a review of their production, properties and use in water treatment applications. Water Res, 43 (2009), pp. 2569-2594, <u>10.1016/j.watres.2009.02.038</u>
- 69. Y. Liu, H. Qin, L. Li. Adsorption of Cd2+ and Pb2+ in aqueous solution by biochars produced from pyrolysis of different crop feedstock. Ecol Environ Sci, 21 (2012), pp. 146-152
- 70. H. Qin, Y. Liu, Q. Li, G. Pan, X. Zhang, J. Zheng. Adsorption of cadmium in solution by biochar from household biowaste. J Ecol Rural Environ, 28 (2012), pp. 181-186
- L. Remenarova, M. Pipiska, M. Hornik, M. Rozloznik, J. Augustin, G. Soja. Cadmium and Zinc Sorption from Single and Binary Solutions by Straw Biochar: the Role of Functional Groups. Book of proceedings of 5th international symposium on biosorption and bioremediation. [June 24-28] Prague, Czech Republic (2012) [June 24-28]
- 72. D. Mohan, C.U. Pittman, M. Bricka, F. Smith, B. Yancey, J. Mohammad, P.H. Steele, M.R. Alexandre-Franco, V. Gomez-Serrano, H. Gong. Sorption of arsenic, cadmium, and lead by chars produced from fast pyrolysis of wood and bark during bio-oil production. J Colloid Interface Sci, 310 (2007), pp. 57-73, 10.1016/j.jcis.2007.01.020
- 73. X. Chen, G. Chen, L. Chen, Y. Chen, J. Lehmann, M.B. McBride, A.G. Hay. Adsorption of copper and zinc by biochars produced from pyrolysis of hardwood and corn straw in aqueous solution. Bioresour Technol, 102 (2011), pp. 8877-8884, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2011.06.078</u>
- 74. W. Zheng, M. Guo, T. Chow, D.N. Bennett, N. Rajagopalan. Sorption properties of greenwaste biochar for two triazine pesticides. J Hazard Mater, 181 (2010), pp. 121-126, <u>10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.04.103</u>
- 75. S. Jeffery, T.M. Bezemer, G. Cornelissen, T.W. Kuyper, J. Lehmann, L. Mommer, S.P. Sohi, T.F.J. van de Voorde, D.A. Wardle, J.W. van Groenigen. The way forward in biochar research: targeting trade-offs between the potential wins. GCB Bioenergy, 7 (2015), pp. 1-13, <u>10.1111/gcbb.12132</u>

- 76. K.R. Reddy, F. Asce, T. Xie, S. Dastgheibi. Evaluation of Biochar as a Potential Filter Media for the Removal of Mixed Contaminants from Urban Storm Water Runoff. J Environ Eng, 140 (2014), pp. 1-10, <u>10.1061/(ASCE)EE.1943-7870.0000872</u>
- 77. K. Sun, K. Ro, M. Guo, J. Novak, H. Mashayekhi, B. Xing. Sorption of bisphenol A, 17α-ethinyl estradiol and phenanthrene on thermally and hydrothermally produced biochars. Bioresour Technol, 102 (2011), pp. 5757-5763, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2011.03.038</u>
- 78. M. Ahmad, S.S. Lee, X. Dou, D. Mohan, J.-K. Sung, J.E. Yang, Y.S. Ok. Effects of pyrolysis temperature on soybean stover- and peanut shell-derived biochar properties and TCE adsorption in water. Bioresour Technol, 118 (2012), pp. 536-544, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2012.05.042</u>
- N. Karakoyun, S. Kubilay, N. Aktas, O. Turhan, M. Kasimoglu, S. Yilmaz, N. Sahiner. Hydrogel-Biochar composites for effective organic contaminant removal from aqueous media. Desalination, 280 (2011), pp. 319-325, <u>10.1016/j.desal.2011.07.014</u>
- C. Jung, J. Park, K.H. Lim, S. Park, J. Heo, N. Her, J. Oh, S. Yun, Y. Yoon. Adsorption of selected endocrine disrupting compounds and pharmaceuticals on activated biochars. J Hazard Mater, 263 (Pt 2) (2013), pp. 702-710, <u>10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.10.033</u>
- 81. H. Yao, J. Lu, J. Wu, Z. Lu, P.C. Wilson, Y. Shen. Adsorption of fluoroquinolone antibiotics by wastewater sludge biochar: role of the sludge source. Water Air Soil Pollut (2013), p. 224, <u>10.1007/s11270-012-1370-7</u>
- Y. Wang, J. Lu, J. Wu, Q. Liu, H. Zhang, S. Jin. Adsorptive removal of fluoroquinolone antibiotics using bamboo biochar. Sustain, 7 (2015), pp. 12947-12957, <u>10.3390/su70912947</u>
- L. Yu, Q. Zhong. Preparation of adsorbents made from sewage sludges for adsorption of organic materials from wastewater. J Hazard Mater, 137 (2006), pp. 359-366, <u>10.1016/j.jhazmat.2006.02.007</u>
- 84. V.M. Monsalvo, A.F. Mohedano, J.J. Rodriguez. Activated carbons from sewage sludge.
 Application to aqueous-phase adsorption of 4-chlorophenol. Desalination, 277 (2011), pp. 377-382, <u>10.1016/j.desal.2011.04.059</u>
- 85. M. Otero, F. Rozada, L.F. Calvo, A.I. García, A. Morán. Elimination of organic water pollutants using adsorbents obtained from sewage sludge. Dyes Pigment, 57 (2003), pp. 55-65, <u>10.1016/S0143-7208(03)00005-6</u>
- X. Tan, Y. Liu, G. Zeng, X. Wang, X. Hu, Y. Gu, Z. Yang. Application of biochar for the removal of pollutants from aqueous solutions. Chemosphere, 125 (2015), pp. 70-85, 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.12.058
- L.K. Kimbell, Y. Tong, B.K. Mayer, P.J. McNamara. Biosolids-Derived Biochar for Triclosan Removal from Wastewater. [ees.2017.0291] Environ Eng Sci (2017), <u>10.1089/ees.2017.0291</u>
- X.D. Song, X.Y. Xue, D.Z. Chen, P.J. He, X.H. Dai. Application of biochar from sewage sludge to plant cultivation: influence of pyrolysis temperature and biochar-to-soil ratio on yield and heavy metal accumulation. Chemosphere, 109 (2014), pp. 213-220, 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.01.070
- 89. E.A.N. Marks, J.M. Alcañiz, X. Domene. Unintended effects of biochars on short-term plant growth in a calcareous soil. Plant Soil, 385 (2014), pp. 87-105, <u>10.1007/s11104-014-2198-2</u>

- 90. A. Nair, B. Carpenter. Biochar rate and transplant tray cell number have implications on pepper growth during transplant production. HortTechnology, 26 (2016), pp. 713-719, <u>10.21273/HORTTECH03490-16</u>
- 91. S.R. Brockhoff, N.E. Christians, R.J. Killorn, R. Horton, D.D. Davis. Physical and mineral-nutrition properties of sand-based turfgrass root zones amended with biochar. Agron J, 102 (2010), pp. 1627-1631
- D.A. Beck, G.R. Johnson, G.A. Spolek. Amending greenroof soil with biochar to affect runoff water quantity and quality. Environ Pollut, 159 (2011), pp. 2111-2118, <u>10.1016/j.envpol.2011.01.022</u>
- 93. S. Rajkovich, A. Enders, K. Hanley, C. Hyland, A.R. Zimmerman, J. Lehmann. Corn growth and nitrogen nutrition after additions of biochars with varying properties to a temperate soil. Bio Fert Soils, 48 (2011), pp. 271-284, <u>10.1007/s00374-011-0624-7</u>
- 94. L.A. Biederman, W. Stanley Harpole. Biochar and its effects on plant productivity and nutrient cycling: a meta-analysis. GCB Bioenergy, 5 (2013), pp. 202-214, <u>10.1111/gcbb.12037</u>
- 95. J.E. Altland, J.C. Locke. Biochar affects macronutrient leaching from a soiless substrate. HortScience, 47 (2012), pp. 1136-1140
- 96. R.K. Dumroese, J. Heiskanen, K. Englund, A. Tervahauta. Pelleted biochar: chemical and physical properties show potential use as a substrate in container nurseries. Biomass- Bioenergy, 35 (2011), pp. 2018-2027, <u>10.1016/j.biombioe.2011.01.053</u>
- S. Jeffery, F.G.A. Verheijen, M. van der Velde, A.C. Bastos. A quantitative review of the effects of biochar application to soils on crop productivity using meta-analysis. Agric Ecosyst Environ, 144 (2011), pp. 175-187, <u>10.1016/j.agee.2011.08.015</u>
- 98. D.D. Warnook, J. Lehmann, T.W. Kuyper, M.C. Rillig. **Mycorrhizal responses to biochar in soil - concepts and mechanisms.** Plant Soil, 300 (2007), pp. 9-20
- J. Lehmann, M.C. Rillig, J. Thies, C.A. Masiello, W.C. Hockaday, D. Crowley. Biochar effects on soil biota - A review. Soil Biol Biochem, 43 (2011), pp. 1812-1836, <u>10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.04.022</u>
- 100. S. Khan, B.J. Reid, G. Li, Y.G. Zhu. **Application of biochar to soil reduces cancer risk via rice consumption: a case study in Miaoqian village, Longyan, China.** Environ Int, 68 (2014), pp. 154-161, <u>10.1016/j.envint.2014.03.017</u>
- 101. T. Liu, B. Liu, W. Zhang. Nutrients and heavy metals in biochar produced by sewage sludge pyrolysis: its application in soil amendment. Pol J Environ Stud, 23 (2014), pp. 271-275
- P. Devi, A.K. Saroha. Risk analysis of pyrolyzed biochar made from paper mill effluent treatment plant sludge for bioavailability and eco-toxicity of heavy metals. Bioresour Technol, 162 (2014), pp. 308-315, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2014.03.093</u>
- 103. F. Luo, J. Song, W. Xia, M. Dong, M. Chen. Characterization of contaminants and evaluation of the suitability for land application of maize and sludge biochars. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int, 21 (2014), pp. 8707-8717, <u>10.1007/s11356-014-2797-8</u>
- 104. Wesenbeeck S. Van, Prins, W. Ronsse. **F. Sewage sludge carbonization for biochar** applications. Fate Heavy Met Energy Fuels, 28 (2014), pp. 5318-5326, <u>10.1021/ef500875c</u>

- M. Farrell, G. Rangott, E. Krull. Difficulties in using soil-based methods to assess plant availability of potentially toxic elements in biochars and their feedstocks. J Hazard Mater, 250 (2013), pp. 29-36, <u>10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.01.073</u>
- 106. P. Oleszczuk, I. Jośko, M. Kuśmierz. **Biochar properties regarding to contaminants** content and ecotoxicological assessment. J Hazard Mater, 260 (2013), pp. 375-382, <u>10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.05.044</u>
- 107. EPA Land Application of Sewage Sludge A Guide for Land Appliers on the Requirements of the Federal Standards for the Use or Disposal of Sewage Sludge, 40 CFR Part 503; 1994.
- 108. V. Inglezakis, A. Zorpas, A. Karagianides, Petros Samaras, I. Voukalli, S. Sklari. **European Union legislation on sewage sludge management.** Fresenius Environ Bull (2012), pp. 635-639
- 109. J.-H. Yuan, R.-K. Xu, H. Zhang. The forms of alkalis in the biochar produced from crop residues at different temperatures. Bioresour Technol, 102 (2011), pp. 3488-3497, 10.1016/j.biortech.2010.11.018
- 110. NRC. Biosolids applied to land: advancing standards and practices. Natl Acad Press(2002)
- 111. D. Fabbri, A.G. Rombolà, C. Torri, K.A. Spokas. **Determination of polycyclic aromatic** hydrocarbons in biochar and biochar amended soil. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis (2013), <u>10.1016/j.jaap.2012.10.003</u>
- 112. A. Freddo, C. Cai, B.J. Reid. Environmental contextualisation of potential toxic elements and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in biochar. Environ Pollut (2012), 10.1016/j.envpol.2012.07.009
- 113. E.N. Yargicoglu, K.R. Reddy. Evaluation of PAH and Metal Contents of Different Biochars for Use in Climate Change Mitigation Systems. Am Soc Civ Eng (2014), 10.1061/9780784478745.011
- 114. F. Luo, J. Song, W. Xia, M. Dong, M. Chen, P. Soudek. Characterization of contaminants and evaluation of the suitability for land application of maize and sludge biochars. Environ Sci Pollut Res (2014), <u>10.1007/s11356-014-2797-8</u>
- S. Kloss, F. Zehetner, A. Dellantonio, R. Hamid, F. Ottner, V. Liedtke, M. Schwanninger, M. Gerzabek, G. Soja. Characterization of slow pyrolysis biochars: effects of feedstocks and pyrolysis temperature on biochar properties. J Environ Qual (2011), <u>10.2134/jeq.2011.0070</u>
- 116. J.J. Ross, D.H. Zitomer, T.R. Miller, C.A. Weirich, P.J. McNamara. Emerging investigators series: pyrolysis removes common microconstituents triclocarban, triclosan, and nonylphenol from biosolids. Environ Sci Water Res Technol (2016), <u>10.1039/C5EW00229J</u>
- 117. T.C. Hoffman, D.H. Zitomer, P.J. McNamara. **Pyrolysis of wastewater biosolids** significantly reduces estrogenicity. J Hazard Mater, 317 (2016), pp. 579-584
- C. Li, K. Suzuki. Tar property, analysis, reforming mechanism and model for biomass gasification—An overview. Renew Sustain Energy Rev, 13 (2009), pp. 594-604, <u>10.1016/j.rser.2008.01.009</u>
- Y.L. Zhang, Y.H. Luo, W.G. Wu, S.H. Zhao, Y.F. Long. Heterogeneous cracking reaction of tar over biomass char, using naphthalene as model biomass tar. Energy Fuels, 28 (2014), pp. 3129-3137, <u>10.1021/ef4024349</u>

- 120. S. Mani, J.R. Kastner, A. Juneja. Catalytic decomposition of toluene using a biomass derived catalyst. Fuel Process Technol, 114 (2013), pp. 118-125, 10.1016/j.fuproc.2013.03.015
- 121. Z. Abu El-Rub, E.A. Bramer, G. Brem. Experimental comparison of biomass chars with other catalysts for tar reduction. Fuel, 87 (2008), pp. 2243-2252, <u>10.1016/j.fuel.2008.01.004</u>
- 122. Vreugdenhil B, Zwart R, Neeft J. Tar formation in pyrolysis and gasification; 2009.
- P. Gilbert, C. Ryu, V. Sharifi, J. Swithenbank. Tar reduction in pyrolysis vapours from biomass over a hot char bed. Bioresour Technol, 100 (2009), pp. 6045-6051, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2009.06.041</u>
- 124. Q. Sun, S. Yu, F. Wang, J. Wang. Decomposition and gasification of pyrolysis volatiles from pine wood through a bed of hot char. Fuel, 90 (2011), pp. 1041-1048, <u>10.1016/j.fuel.2010.12.015</u>
- 125. S. Ren, H. Lei, L. Wang, Q. Bu, S. Chen, J. Wu. Hydrocarbon and hydrogen-rich syngas production by biomass catalytic pyrolysis and bio-oil upgrading over biochar catalysts. RSC Adv, 4 (2014), pp. 10731-10737, <u>10.1039/C4RA00122B</u>
- 126. Z. Liu, P.J. McNamara, D.H. Zitomer. Autocatalytic pyrolysis of wastewater biosolids for product upgrading. Environ Sci Technol, 51 (2017), pp. 9808-9816, <u>10.1021/acs.est.7b02913</u>
- 127. Z. Liu, P.J. McNamara, D.H. Zitomer. **Product upgrading during biosolids pyrolysis by** using a low-cost natural catalyst. Proc Water Environ Fed (2016)
- 128. C. Li. Importance of volatile–char interactions during the pyrolysis and gasification of low-rank fuels–a review. Fuel, 112 (2013), pp. 609-623, <u>10.1016/j.fuel.2013.01.031</u>
- 129. J. Amonette, S. Joseph. **Characteristics of biochar: microchemical properties.** Biochar Environ Manag (2009)
- 130. S. Liao, B. Pan, H. Li, D. Zhang, B. Xing. Detecting free radicals in biochars and determining their ability to inhibit the germination and growth of corn, wheat and rice seedlings. Environ Sci Technol, 48 (2014), pp. 8581-8587, <u>10.1021/es404250a</u>
- P.M. Weston, V. Sharifi, J. Swithenbank. Destruction of Tar in a Novel Coandă Tar Cracking System. Energy Fuels, 28 (2014), pp. 1059-1065, <u>10.1021/ef401705g</u>
- 132. S. Zhang, M. Asadullah, L. Dong, H. Tay, C. Li. An advanced biomass gasification technology with integrated catalytic hot gas cleaning. Part II: tar reforming using char as a catalyst or as a catalyst support. Fuel, 112 (2013), pp. 646-653, <u>10.1016/j.fuel.2013.03.015</u>
- Z. Min, P. Yimsiri, M. Asadullah, S. Zhang, C. Li. Catalytic reforming of tar during gasification. Part II. Char as a catalyst or as a catalyst support for tar reforming. Fuel, 90 (2011), pp. 2545-2552, 10.1016/j.fuel.2011.03.027
- 134. M.P. Rumphorst, H.D. Ringel. **Pyrolysis of sewage sludge and use of pyrolysis coke.** J Anal Appl Pyrolysis, 28 (1994), pp. 137-155
- M. Otero, C. Díez, L.F. Calvo, A.I. García, A. Morán. Analysis of the co-combustion of sewage sludge and coal by TG-MS. Biomass- Bioenergy, 22 (2002), pp. 319-329, <u>10.1016/S0961-9534(02)00012-0</u>
- 136. G.K. Parshetti, Z. Liu, A. Jain, M.P. Srinivasan, R. Balasubramanian. Hydrothermal carbonization of sewage sludge for energy production with coal. Fuel, 111 (2013), pp. 201-210, 10.1016/j.fuel.2013.04.052

- Y. Koga, H. Oonuki, T. Amari, Y. Endo, K. Kakurata, K. Ose. Biomass Solid Fuel Production from Sewage Sludge with Pyrolysis and Co-firing in Coal Power Plant. Mitsubishi Heavy Ind Rev, 44 (2007), pp. 1-5
- N. Gil-Lalaguna, J.L. Sánchez, M.B. Murillo, V. Ruiz, G. Gea. Air-steam gasification of char derived from sewage sludge pyrolysis. Comparison with the gasification of sewage sludge. Fuel, 129 (2014), pp. 147-155, <u>10.1016/j.fuel.2014.03.059</u>
- A. Sattar, G.A. Leeke, A. Hornung, J. Wood. Steam gasification of rapeseed, wood, sewage sludge and miscanthus biochars for the production of a hydrogen-rich syngas. Biomass- Bioenergy, 69 (2014), pp. 276-286, <u>10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.07.025</u>
- 140. L. Nowicki, M. Markowski. **Gasification of pyrolysis chars from sewage sludge.** Fuel, 143 (2015), pp. 476-483, <u>10.1016/j.fuel.2014.10.056</u>
- C. Gai, M. Chen, T. Liu, N. Peng, Z. Liu. Gasification characteristics of hydrochar and pyrochar derived from sewage sludge. Energy, 113 (2016), pp. 957-965, <u>10.1016/j.energy.2016.07.129</u>
- 142. J. Werther, T. Ogada. **Sewage sludge combustion.** Prog Energy Combust Sci, 25 (1999), pp. 55-116, <u>10.1016/S0360-1285(98)00020-3</u>
- P. Manara, A. Zabaniotou. Towards sewage sludge based biofuels via thermochemical conversion A review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev, 16 (2012), pp. 2566-2582, <u>10.1016/j.rser.2012.01.074</u>
- 144. Disposal and Recycling Routes for Sewage Sludge: Part 3–Scientific and Technical Report. Luxembourg; 2001.
- 145. Y. Kim, W. Parker. A technical and economic evaluation of the pyrolysis of sewage sludge for the production of bio-oil. Bioresour Technol, 99 (2008), pp. 1409-1416, <u>10.1016/j.biortech.2007.01.056</u>
- 146. E. Pokorna, N. Postelmans, P. Jenicek, S. Schreurs, R. Carleer, J. Yperman. Study of biooils and solids from flash pyrolysis of sewage sludges. Fuel, 88 (2009), pp. 1344-1350, <u>10.1016/j.fuel.2009.02.020</u>
- 147. T.N. Trinh, P.A. Jensen, D.J. Kim, N.O. Knudsen, H.R. Sørensen. Influence of the pyrolysis temperature on sewage sludge product distribution, bio-oil, and char properties. Energy Fuels, 27 (2013), pp. 1419-1427, 10.1021/ef301944r
- J. Alvarez, M. Amutio, G. Lopez, I. Barbarias, J. Bilbao, M. Olazar. Sewage sludge valorization by flash pyrolysis in a conical spouted bed reactor. Chem Eng J, 273 (2015), pp. 173-183, <u>10.1016/j.cej.2015.03.047</u>
- P.J. McNamara, J.D. Koch, Z. Liu, D.H. Zitomer. Pyrolysis of dried wastewater biosolids can be energy positive. Water Environ Res, 88 (2016), pp. 804-810, <u>10.2175/106143016×14609975747441</u>
- 150. M. Inguanzo, J.A. Menéndez, E. Fuente, J.J. Pis. **Reactivity of pyrolyzed sewage sludge in** air and CO₂ J Anal Appl Pyrolysis, 58–59 (2001), pp. 943-954, <u>10.1016/S0165-2370(00)00143-1</u>
- 151. H. Shim, R.H. Hurt. Thermal annealing of chars from diverse organic precursors under combustion-like conditions. Energy Fuels, 14 (2000), pp. 340-348

- 152. R. Font, A. Fullana, J. Conesa. Kinetic models for the pyrolysis and combustion of two types of sewage sludge. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis, 74 (2005), pp. 429-438, <u>10.1016/j.jaap.2004.10.009</u>
- L. Nowicki, A. Antecka, T. Bedyk, P. Stolarek, S. Ledakowicz. The kinetics of gasification of char derived from sewage sludge. J Therm Anal Calorim, 104 (2011), pp. 693-700, <u>10.1007/s10973-010-1032-1</u>
- 154. Kijo-Kleczkowska, K. Sroda, M. Kosowska-Golachowska, T. Musial, K. Wolski.
 Mechanisms and kinetics of granulated sewage sludge combustion. Waste Manag, 46 (2015), pp. 459-471, <u>10.1016/j.wasman.2015.08.015</u>
- 155. B. Urych, A. Smoliński. **Kinetics of sewage sludge pyrolysis and air gasification of its chars.** Energy Fuels, 30 (2016), pp. 4869-4878, <u>10.1021/acs.energyfuels.6b00332</u>
- S.A. Scott, J.F. Davidson, J.S. Dennis, P.S. Fennell, A.N. Hayhurst. The rate of gasification by CO₂ of chars from waste. Proc Combust Inst, 30 (2005), pp. 2151-2159, <u>10.1016/j.proci.2004.08.061</u>
- 157. D. Vamvuka, E. Karouki, S. Sfakiotakis. Gasification of waste biomass chars by carbon dioxide via thermogravimetry. Part I: effect of mineral matter. Fuel, 90 (2011), pp. 1120-1127, 10.1016/j.fuel.2010.12.001
- S.L. Singer, A.F. Ghoniem. An adaptive random pore model for multimodal pore structure evolution with application to char gasification. Energy Fuels, 25 (2011), pp. 1423-1437, <u>10.1021/ef101532u</u>
- 159. S. Nilsson, A. Gómez-Barea, D.F. Cano. Gasification reactivity of char from dried sewage sludge in a fluidized bed. Fuel, 92 (2012), pp. 346-353, <u>10.1016/j.fuel.2011.07.031</u>
- 160. S. Nilsson, A. Gómez-Barea, P. Ollero. Gasification of char from dried sewage sludge in fluidized bed: reaction rate in mixtures of CO₂ and H2O. Fuel, 105 (2013), pp. 764-768, <u>10.1016/j.fuel.2012.09.008</u>
- 161. D.G. Roberts, D.J. Harris. Char gasification in mixtures of CO₂ and H2O: competition and inhibition. Fuel, 86 (2007), pp. 2672-2678, <u>10.1016/j.fuel.2007.03.019</u>
- 162. N. Gil-Lalaguna, J.L. Sánchez, M.B. Murillo, M. Atienza-Martínez, G. Gea. Energetic assessment of air-steam gasification of sewage sludge and of the integration of sewage sludge pyrolysis and air-steam gasification of char. Energy, 76 (2014), pp. 652-662, <u>10.1016/j.energy.2014.08.061</u>